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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.
Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K may be deemed to be forward-looking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
and other federal securities laws. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, words such as “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “will,” “may,” “could,” “intend” and
similar expressions and their negatives are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We caution that forward-looking statements are based largely on our expectations
and are subject to a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties that are subject to change based on factors that are, in many instances, beyond our control. Actual
results, performance or achievements may differ materially from those contemplated, expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date we make them, actual results could differ
materially from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors, including risks relating to:
•

uncertainties about the exploration and evaluation of strategic alternatives, including that they may not result in a definitive transition or enhance shareholder
value and may create a distraction or uncertainty that may adversely affect our operating results, business, or investor perceptions

•

uncertainties about the paths of our programs and our ability to evaluate and identify a path forward for those programs, particularly given the constraints we
have as a small company with limited financial, personnel and other operating resources;

•

our understandings and beliefs regarding the role of certain biological mechanisms and processes in cancer;

•

our product candidates being in early stages of development, including in preclinical development;

•

our ability to successfully and timely complete clinical trials for our product candidates in clinical development;

•

uncertainties related to the timing, results and analyses related to our product candidates in preclinical development;

•

our ability to obtain the necessary U.S. and foreign regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

•

our reliance on third-party contract research organizations (“CROs”)and other investigators and collaborators for certain research and development services;

•

our ability to maintain or engage third-party manufacturers to manufacture, supply, store and distribute supplies of our product candidates for our clinical trials;

•

our ability to form strategic alliances and partnerships with pharmaceutical companies and other partners for sales and marketing of our product candidates, if
approved;

•

demand for and market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved;

•

the scope and validity of our intellectual property protection for our product candidates and our ability to develop our candidates without infringing the
intellectual property rights of others;

•

our lack of profitability and the need for additional capital to operate our business; and

•

other risks and uncertainties, including those set forth herein under the caption “Risk Factors” and those detailed from time to time in our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date hereof, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements, whether because of
new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
Unless the context requires otherwise, any references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” or “Rexahn” refers to Rexahn
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Item 1.
Description of Business
Overview
We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company developing innovative therapies to improve patient outcomes in cancers that are difficult to treat. Our mission is
to improve the lives of cancer patients by developing next-generation cancer therapies that are designed to maximize efficacy while minimizing the toxicity and side effects
traditionally associated with cancer treatment. Our pipeline features two clinical stage oncology product candidates and additional compounds in preclinical development.
•

RX-3117 is a novel, investigational oral small molecule nucleoside compound. Once intracellularly activated (phosphorylated) by the enzyme UCK2, it is
incorporated into the DNA or RNA of cells and inhibits both DNA and RNA synthesis, which induces apoptotic cell death of tumor cells. Because UCK2 is
overexpressed in multiple human tumors, but has a very limited presence in normal tissues, RX-3117 offers the potential for a targeted anti-cancer therapy with
an improved efficacy and safety profile, and we believe it has therapeutic potential in a broad range of cancers, including pancreatic, bladder, colon, lung and
cervical cancer. RX-3117 is currently being evaluated in a Phase 2a clinical trial in combination with Celgene’s ABRAXANE ® (paclitaxel protein-bound
particles for injectable suspension) as a first-line treatment in patients newly diagnosed with metastatic pancreatic cancer. The trial reached its target enrollment
in February 2019. As of July 24, 2019, an overall response rate of 23% had been observed in 40 patients that had at least one scan on treatment. Preliminary and
unaudited data indicates that the median progression free survival for patients in the study is approximately 5.4 months. Complete data from the trial is expected
to be available in 2020. No additional trials are currently planned in metastatic pancreatic cancer, however we are evaluating development options for RX-3117
in other indications. RX-3117 has received orphan drug designation from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and from the European Commission
(the “EC”) for pancreatic cancer. RX-3117 was also previously evaluated in a Phase 2a clinical trial in advanced bladder cancer. We presented updated
preliminary safety and efficacy data from this trial in February 2019. On February 25, 2019, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement (as amended,
the “Collaboration and License Agreement”) with BioSense Global LLC (“BioSense”) to advance the development and commercialization of RX-3117 for
pancreatic and other cancers in the Republic of Singapore, China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

•

RX-5902 is a potential first-in-class small molecule modulator of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway which plays a key role in cancer cell proliferation and tumor
growth. RX-5902 modulates the pathway through inhibition of phosphorylated p68, a protein that helps to transport beta-catenin from the cytoplasm into the cell
nucleus. Once inside the nucleus, beta-catenin turns on various oncogenes, thereby promoting cancer cell proliferation and tumor growth. We believe that by
inhibiting phosphorylated p68, RX-5902 hinders the transport of beta-catenin into the nucleus and reduces the activation of cancer genes. In addition, multiple
preclinical models have shown that RX-5902 activates the immune system against cancer and enhances the ability of immune cells to infiltrate the tumor and kill
tumor cells. In preclinical models of colorectal and triple negative breast cancer (“TNBC”), the effects of RX-5902 were observed to be synergistic with other
immunotherapy agents such as checkpoint inhibitors. We have evaluated RX-5902 in a Phase 1 dose escalation study in patients with a diverse range of
metastatic, treatment-refractory tumors, including breast, ovarian, colorectal, and neuro-endocrine tumors. In February 2017, we initiated a Phase 2a clinical trial
of RX-5902 in patients with metastatic TNBC. In August 2018, we entered into a collaboration with Merck Sharp & Dohme B.V. (“Merck”) to evaluate the
combination of RX-5902 and Merck’s anti-PD-1 therapy, KEYTRUDA ® (pembrolizumab) in a Phase 2 trial in patients with metastatic TNBC. In December
2018, we ceased enrollment in the Phase 2a monotherapy trial of RX-5902 in TNBC to focus RX-5902 development activities on planning the proposed
combination trial with KEYTRUDA. We are currently evaluating the development strategy for RX-5902 and may or may not proceed with this trial.
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•

RX-0301 is a potential best-in-class, potent inhibitor of the protein kinase Akt-1, which we believe plays a critical role in cancer cell proliferation, survival,
angiogenesis, metastasis and drug resistance. RX-0301 is currently in preclinical development by Zhejiang HaiChang Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (“HaiChang”) as a
nano-liposomal formulation of RX-0201 (Archexin®) using HaiChang’s proprietary QTsome™ technology. On February 8, 2020, we entered into an exclusive
license agreement with HaiChang (the “HaiChang License Agreement”) pursuant to which we granted HaiChang an exclusive (even as to the us), royalty-bearing,
sublicensable worldwide license to research, develop and commercialize RX-0201 and RX-0301. RX-0301 was previously the subject of a research and
development collaboration with HaiChang to conduct certain preclinical and clinical activities through completion of a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial in
hepatocellular carcinoma (“HCC”), and we were previously developing RX-0201 for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma (“RCC”). In February 2018, in
response to the changing treatment landscape for metastatic RCC over the prior two years with the approval of new therapies by the FDA, we announced plans to
discontinue the internally funded programs of RX-0201 and ceased enrolling patients in a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial of RX-0201 in patients with
metastatic RCC.

In September 2019, we commenced a process to explore and evaluate strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value, and have engaged Oppenheimer and Co.
Inc. as our financial advisor to assist us in this process. Potential strategic alternatives include an acquisition, merger, reverse merger, other business combination, sales of
assets, licensing, or other strategic alternatives. In connection with the evaluation of strategic alternatives, we are evaluating opportunities to extend our resources and have
reduced our headcount to five employees.
Industry and Disease Markets
Current Cancer Treatments
Traditional cancer treatments involve surgery, radiation therapy, and chemotherapy, either alone or in a combined approach. Surgery is widely used to treat cancer
and may be curative for early disease but not if metastasis has occurred. Radiation therapy, or radiotherapy, can be highly effective in treating certain types of cancer. In
radiation therapy, ionizing radiation deposits energy that injures or destroys cells in the area being treated by damaging their genetic material, making it impossible for these
cells to continue to grow. Although radiation damages both cancer cells and normal cells, the normal cells are generally able to repair themselves and function properly.
Chemotherapy involves the use of cytotoxic cancer drugs to destroy cancer cells by interfering with various stages of the cell division process. While for certain cancers and
in certain patients, these drugs have limited efficacy, they also have debilitating and sometimes life-threatening side effects. Administration of cytotoxic cancer drugs may
also result in the development of multi-drug resistance, a condition that results when certain tumor cells that have survived treatment with cytotoxic drugs are no longer
susceptible to treatment by those and other drugs. Recent advances in cancer treatment include the use of targeted therapies and immunotherapies to stimulate the body’s own
immune system to kill cancer cells. Targeted therapies are directed against specific proteins (targets) that promote the growth of tumor cells and are overexpressed in cancer
cells relative to normal tissue. Targeted therapies may be effective in killing tumors that overexpress the target protein, which are usually found in a subset of patients with
any particular tumor type. Immunotherapy can significantly improve survival in certain cancers. However, for many common cancers, including pancreatic, breast cancer and
colorectal cancer, immunotherapy has shown limited efficacy and there is a risk of over-stimulation of the immune system that can lead to life-threatening autoimmune sideeffects, such as colitis, pneumonia, and hepatitis.
2
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Unmet Needs in Cancer
Despite significant advances in cancer research and treatments, many unmet needs still remain including:
•

Effective treatments for metastatic cancer: There is a need for better treatments to prolong life and improve survival in patients diagnosed with late-stage
cancers. In many cases, early stage cancer can be effectively treated with surgery and/or radiation and adjuvant drug treatment. However, once the tumor has
metastasized, current treatments are usually not curative.

•

Long-term management of cancers: Surgery, radiation therapy or chemotherapy may not result in long-term remission, although surgery and radiation
therapies are considered effective methods for some cancers. There is a need for more effective drugs and adjuvant therapies to treat relapsed and refractory
cancers.

•

Multi-drug resistance: Multi-drug resistance is a major obstacle to effectively treating various cancers with chemotherapy.

•

Debilitating toxicity by chemotherapy: Chemotherapy as a mainstay of cancer treatment can induce severe adverse reactions and toxicities, adversely
affecting quality of life or life itself.

Market Opportunity
There are several factors that we believe are favorable for commercializing new cancer drugs that may have the potential to be first-in-class or market leaders,
including:
•

Expedited Regulatory or Commercialization Pathways. Drugs for life-threatening diseases such as cancer are often candidates for fast track designation,
breakthrough therapy designation, priority review and accelerated approval, each of which may lead to approval sooner than would otherwise be the case.

•

Favorable Environment for Formulary Access and Reimbursement. We believe cancer drugs with proven efficacy would gain rapid market uptake, formulary
listing and third-party payor reimbursement. Drugs with orphan designations are generally reimbursed by third-party payors because there are few, if any,
alternatives.

•

Low Marketing Costs. We believe the marketing of new drugs to oncologists can be accomplished with a smaller sales force and lower related costs than a sales
force that markets widely to primary care physicians and general practitioners.
3
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Our Pipeline Product Candidates
RX-3117: Oral Small Molecule Nucleoside Analogue
RX-3117 is a novel, investigational, oral small molecule nucleoside analogue. In preclinical models when activated (phosphorylated) by uridine-cytidine kinase 2, a
protein that is overexpressed in various human cancer cells, RX-3117 was incorporated into DNA or RNA of cells and inhibited both DNA and RNA synthesis, which induced
apoptotic cell death of tumor cells. RX-3117 has received orphan drug designation from the FDA and the EC for the treatment of patients with pancreatic cancer.
RX-3117 has shown broad spectrum anti-tumor activity against over 100 different human cancer cell lines and efficacy in 17 different mouse xenograft models. In
preclinical trials, RX-3117 retained its anti-tumor activity in human cancer cell lines made resistant to the anti-tumor effects of gemcitabine. In August 2012, we reported the
completion of an exploratory Phase 1 clinical trial of RX-3117 in cancer patients to investigate the oral bioavailability, safety and tolerability of the compound. In this study,
oral administration of a 50 mg dose of RX-3117 indicated an oral bioavailability of 56% and a plasma half-life (T1/2) of 14 hours. In addition, RX-3117 appeared to be welltolerated in all subjects throughout the dose range tested.
Final results from the Phase 1b clinical trial of RX-3117 presented in June 2016 showed evidence of single agent activity. Patients in the study had generally
received four or more cancer therapies prior to enrollment. In this study, 12 patients experienced stable disease persisting for up to 276 days and three patients showed
evidence of tumor burden reduction. A maximum tolerated dose of 700 mg was identified in the study. At the doses tested, RX-3117, administered orally, appeared to be
well-tolerated with a predictable pharmacokinetic profile following oral administration.
In March 2016, we initiated a multi-center Phase 2a clinical trial of RX-3117 in patients with relapsed or refractory pancreatic cancer to further evaluate safety and
efficacy. The study was designed as a two-stage study with 10 patients in stage 1 and an additional 40 patients in stage 2. According to pre-set criteria, if greater than 20% of
the patients had an increase in progression free survival of more than four months, or an objective clinical response rate and reduction in tumor size, additional pancreatic
cancer patients would be enrolled into stage 2. Secondary endpoints included time to disease progression, overall response rate and duration of response, as well as
pharmacokinetic assessments and safety parameters.
In September 2016, we initiated stage 2 of this Phase 2a clinical trial based on the satisfaction of the predefined criteria for stage 1 of the trial that showed RX-3117
appeared to be well-tolerated with preliminary signs of activity in pancreatic cancer patients for whom three or more prior therapies had been ineffective. In January 2018, we
presented the final data from this trial showing that evidence of tumor shrinkage was observed in some patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer that was resistant to
gemcitabine and who had failed on multiple prior treatments. In this study, 31% of patients experienced progression free survival for two months or more and five patients,
or 12%, had disease stabilization for greater than four months.
In November 2017, we initiated a Phase 2a trial of RX-3117 in combination with ABRAXANE in patients newly diagnosed with metastatic pancreatic cancer. The
multicenter, single-arm, open-label study is designed to evaluate RX-3117 in combination with ABRAXANE in first-line metastatic pancreatic cancer patients. In February
2019, we reached the target enrollment of 40 evaluable patients in this trial. As of July 24, 2019, an overall response rate of 23% had been observed in 40 patients that had at
least one scan on treatment. Preliminary and unaudited data indicated that the median progression free survival for patients in the study was approximately 5.4 months. The
most commonly reported related adverse events were nausea, diarrhea, fatigue, alopecia, decreased appetite, rash, vomiting and anemia. Complete data from the trial is
expected to be available in 2020. While no additional trials are currently planned in metastatic pancreatic cancer, we are evaluating development options for RX-3117 in other
indications.
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In September 2016, we commenced enrollment in a Phase 2a trial of RX-3117 in patients with advanced bladder cancer that had progressed on multiple prior
treatments. This Phase 2a clinical trial was a multicenter, open-label, single-agent study of RX-3117 conducted at 10 clinical centers in the United States. In February 2019,
we presented data from this trial at the ASCO Genitourinary Cancers Symposium. Preliminary signs of activity, including a complete response, were observed. Of the 31
patients who had at least one scan on treatment and were therefore included in the preliminary efficacy analysis, five patients had stable disease for at least four months, two
of whom stayed in the trial for six months or longer. Mild to moderate fatigue, nausea and diarrhea are the most common side effects observed in the trial to date. No
additional trials are currently planned for RX-3117 in this indication.
RX-5902: Potential First-in-Class Inhibitor of Phosphorylated p68
RX-5902 is a potential first-in-class small molecule modulator of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. Activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway is recognized to a key
driver of cancer cell proliferation and tumor growth. Activation of the pathway leads to accumulation of beta-catenin in the nucleus of cancer cells that turns on cancer-related
genes. RX-5902 inhibits a protein, phosphorylated p68, that helps to transport beta-catenin from the cytoplasm into the cell nucleus. Once inside the nucleus, beta-catenin
turns on various oncogenes, thereby promoting cancer cell proliferation and tumor growth. By inhibiting phosphorylated p68, RX-5902 hinders the transport of beta-catenin
into the nucleus, which results in decreased levels of beta-catenin in the nucleus and in turn decreases the expression of cancer-related genes. In preclinical tissue culture
models and in-vivo xenograft models, RX-5902 has exhibited single-agent tumor growth inhibition, potential synergy with cytotoxic agents and activity against drug resistant
cancer cells. In particular, in in-vivo xenograft mouse models of human TNBC and pancreatic cancer, treatment with RX-5902 produced a dose-dependent inhibition of tumor
growth and a survival benefit. In addition, multiple preclinical models have shown that RX-5902 activates the immune system against cancer and enhances the ability of
immune cells to infiltrate the tumor and kill tumor cells In preclinical models of colorectal and TNBC, the effects of RX-5902 were observed to be synergistic with other
immunotherapy agents such as checkpoint inhibitors.
RX-5902 was evaluated in a Phase 1 dose-escalation clinical trial in cancer patients with solid tumors that was designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability, doselimiting toxicities and the recommended Phase 2 dose. Secondary endpoints include pharmacokinetic analyses and an evaluation of the preliminary anti-tumor effects of
RX-5902. We completed enrollment in this study in 2016. Final results from the Phase 1 clinical trial of RX-5902 presented in September 2017 showed evidence of singleagent, clinical activity of RX-5902. In this study, RX-5902 preliminarily appeared to be well-tolerated at the doses and dosing schedules tested with no dose-limiting
toxicities or treatment-related serious adverse events. The most frequently reported treatment-related adverse events were mild to moderate fatigue, nausea, and diarrhea.
Thirty-nine subjects were enrolled (24 female, 15 male), of which 26 were evaluable. Fourteen subjects experienced stable disease in breast, neuroendocrine,
paraganglioma, head/neck, ovarian or colorectal cancer. Three subjects received treatment for more than one year. Approximately 64% of the subjects, or 25 of 39, had
received four or more therapies prior to their enrollment in the Phase 1 clinical trial.
We initiated a Phase 2a clinical trial of RX-5902 in patients with metastatic TNBC in February 2017. This trial was intended to evaluate preliminary signs of safety
and efficacy of RX-5902 in patients who have failed prior treatments. As of October 12, 2018, 17 patients had been enrolled in the trial, with 13 of these patients evaluable
and six showing a clinical response. In August 2018, we entered into a collaboration with Merck to evaluate the combination of RX-5902 and Merck’s anti-PD-1 therapy,
KEYTRUDA, in a Phase 2 trial in patients with metastatic TNBC. Data generated to date do not support further development of RX-5902 as a monotherapy for TNBC and in
December 2018, we ceased enrollment in the ongoing Phase 2a trial to focus RX-5902 development activities on planning the proposed combination trial with KEYTRUDA.
We are currently evaluating the development strategy for RX-5902 and may or may not proceed with this trial.
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RX-0301: Potential Best-in-Class Anti-Cancer Akt-1 Inhibitor
RX-0301 is a potential best-in-class, potent anti-sense inhibitor of protein kinase Akt-1 synthesis and activity, which we believe plays a critical role in cancer cell
proliferation, survival, angiogenesis, metastasis and drug resistance.
RX-0301 is being developed as a nano-liposomal formulation of RX-0201, an antisense oligonucleotide compound that is complementary to mRNA coding for Akt1. RX-0201 binds to the mRNA, inhibiting transcription and production of the Akt-1 protein. RX-0201 preliminarily appeared to be well-tolerated with minimal side effects
in a Phase 1 trial in patients with advanced cancers, where Grade 3 fatigue was the only dose-limiting toxicity and no significant hematological abnormalities were observed.
RX-0301 is being developed by HaiChang using HaiChang’s proprietary QTsome™ technology. We have granted HaiChang an exclusive (even as to us), royalty-bearing,
sublicensable worldwide license to research, develop and commercialize RX-0201 and RX-0301. RX-0301 was previously the subject of a research and development
collaboration with HaiChang to conduct certain preclinical and clinical activities through completion of a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial in HCC.
Research and Development Process
We have engaged third-party CROs and other investigators and collaborators, such as universities and medical institutions, to conduct our preclinical studies,
toxicology studies and clinical trials. Engaging third-party CROs is typical practice in our industry. However, relying on such organizations means that the clinical trials and
other studies described above are being conducted at external locations and that the completion of these trials and studies is not within our direct control. Trials and studies
may be delayed due to circumstances outside our control, and such delays may result in additional expenses for us.
Competition
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. We compete against fully
integrated pharmaceutical companies and smaller companies, including smaller companies that are or may be collaborating with larger pharmaceutical companies, as well as
academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations. Many of these competitors, either alone or together with their collaborative
partners, operate larger research and development programs or have substantially greater financial resources than we do, as well as more experience in:
•

developing drugs;

•

undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

•

obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of drugs;

•

formulating and manufacturing drugs; and
6

Table of Contents

•

launching, marketing and selling drugs.

Large pharmaceutical companies currently sell both generic and proprietary compounds for the treatment of cancer. In addition, companies developing oncology
therapies represent substantial competition. Many of these organizations have substantially greater capital resources, larger research and development staff and facilities,
history in obtaining regulatory approvals and greater manufacturing and marketing capabilities than we do. These organizations also compete with us to attract qualified
personnel, parties for acquisitions, joint ventures or other collaborations.
There are currently marketed products and product candidates under development by our competitors that have similar mechanisms or action or target some of the
same indications as our clinical stage product candidates. If approved, RX-3117 could compete with other compounds with an anti-metabolite mechanism of action in
cancers, such as NUC-1031 (Acelarin ®), which is under development by NuCana, and other approved nucleoside analogues such as capecitabine and gemcitabine. We are not
currently aware of known inhibitors of phosphorylated p68 that would compete with RX-5902 if RX-5902 were approved, but other drugs with a different mechanism of
action are approved or in development for the same indications, including AstraZeneca’s LYNPARZA ® (olaparib), Immunomedics’ sacituzumab govitecan and various PD-1
inhibitors, including Genentech’s TECENTRIQ ® (atezolizumab), that are approved or in development for TNBC. If approved, RX-0301 could compete with other Akt-1
inhibitors under development by other companies including Merck & Company, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, AstraZeneca, Gilead Sciences, MEI Pharma, PIQUR Therapeutics
and others.
Government Regulation
Regulation by governmental authorities in the United States and in other countries is a significant consideration in our product development, manufacturing and,
upon approval of our product candidates, marketing strategies. We expect that all our product candidates will require regulatory approval by the FDA and by similar
regulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to commercialization and will be subjected to rigorous preclinical, clinical, and post-approval testing to demonstrate safety and
effectiveness, as well as other significant regulatory requirements and restrictions in each jurisdiction in which we would seek to market our products. U.S. federal laws and
regulations govern the testing, development, manufacture, quality control, safety, effectiveness, approval, storage, labeling, record keeping, reporting, distribution, import,
export and marketing of all biopharmaceutical products intended for therapeutic purposes. We believe that we and the third parties that work with us are in compliance in all
material respects with currently applicable rules and regulations, however, any failure to comply could have a material negative impact on our ability to successfully develop
and commercialize our products, and therefore on our financial performance. In addition, the rules and regulations that apply to our business are subject to change. For
example, in December 2016, the 21st Century Cures Act (the “Cures Act”) was signed into law. The Cures Act included numerous provisions that may be relevant to our
product candidates, including provisions designed to speed development of innovative therapies and provide funding for certain cancer-related research and technology
development. Further legislative and regulatory changes appear possible in the 116th United States Congress and under the Trump Administration, and it is difficult to
foresee whether, how, or when such changes may affect our business.
Obtaining governmental approvals and maintaining ongoing compliance with applicable regulations are expected to require the expenditure of significant financial
and human resources not currently at our disposal. We plan to fulfill our short-term needs through consulting agreements and joint ventures with academic or corporate
partners while developing our own internal infrastructure for long-term corporate growth.
7
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Development and Approval
The process to obtain approval for biopharmaceutical compounds for commercialization in the United States and many other countries is lengthy, complex and
expensive, and the outcome is far from certain. Although foreign requirements for conducting clinical trials and obtaining approval may be different than in the United States,
they often are equally rigorous and the outcome cannot be predicted with confidence. A key component of any submission for approval in any jurisdiction is preclinical and
clinical data demonstrating the product’s safety and effectiveness.
Preclinical Testing. Before testing any compound in humans in the United States, a company must develop preclinical data, generally including laboratory
evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as toxicological and pharmacological studies in animal species to assess safety and quality. Certain types of animal
studies must be conducted in compliance with the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice regulations and the Animal Welfare Act, which is enforced by the Department of
Agriculture.
IND Application. A person or entity sponsoring clinical trials in the United States to evaluate a candidate’s safety and effectiveness must submit to the FDA, prior to
commencing such studies, an investigational new drug (“IND”) application, which contains preclinical testing results and provides a basis for the FDA to conclude that there
is an adequate basis for testing the drug in humans. If the FDA does not object to the IND application within 30 days of submission, the clinical testing proposed in the IND
may begin. Even after the IND has gone into effect and clinical testing has begun, the FDA may put the clinical trials on clinical hold, suspending (or in some cases, ending)
them because of safety concerns or for other reasons.
Clinical Trials. Clinical trials involve administering a drug to human volunteers or patients under the supervision of a qualified clinical investigator. Clinical trials
are subject to extensive regulation. In the United States, this includes compliance with the FDA’s bioresearch monitoring regulations and current good clinical practices
(“cGCP”) requirements, which establish standards for conducting, recording data from, and reporting the results of, clinical trials, with the goal of assuring that the data and
results are credible and accurate and that study participants’ rights, safety and well-being are protected. Each clinical trial must be conducted under a protocol that details the
study objectives, parameters for monitoring safety and the efficacy criteria, if any, to be evaluated. The protocol is submitted to the FDA as part of the IND and reviewed by
the agency before the study begins. Additionally, each clinical trial must be reviewed, approved and conducted under the auspices of an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”).
The sponsor of a clinical trial, the investigators and IRBs each must comply with requirements and restrictions that govern, among other things, obtaining informed consent
from each study subject, complying with the protocol and investigational plan, adequately monitoring the clinical trial, and timely reporting adverse events. Foreign studies
conducted under an IND must meet the same requirements applicable to studies conducted in the United States. However, if a foreign study is not conducted under an IND,
the data may still be submitted to the FDA in support of a product application, if the study was conducted in accordance with cGCP and the FDA is able to validate the data.
The sponsors of a clinical trial or the sponsor’s designated responsible party may be required to register certain information about the trial and disclose certain results
on government or independent registry websites, such as http://www.clinicaltrials.gov.
Clinical testing is typically performed in three phases, which may overlap or be subdivided in some cases.
8

Table of Contents

In Phase 1, the drug is administered to a small number of human subjects to assess its safety and to develop detailed profiles of its pharmacological and
pharmacokinetic actions (i.e., absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion). Although Phase 1 trials typically are conducted in healthy human subjects, in some
instances (including, for example, with some cancer therapies) the study subjects are patients with the targeted disease or condition.
In Phase 2, the drug is administered to a relatively small sample of the intended patient population to develop initial data regarding efficacy in the targeted disease,
determine the optimal dose range, and generate additional information regarding the drug’s safety. Additional animal toxicology studies may precede this phase. In some
cases, Phase 2 testing can be split into Phase 2a and 2b studies in order to test smaller subject pools and to evaluate particular aspects of the drug product.
In Phase 3, the drug is administered to a larger group of patients, which may include patients with concomitant diseases and medications. Typically, Phase 3 trials
are conducted at multiple study sites and may be conducted concurrently for the sake of time and efficiency. The purpose of Phase 3 clinical trials is to obtain additional
information about safety and effectiveness necessary to evaluate the drug’s overall risk-benefit profile and to provide a basis for product labeling. Phase 3 data often form the
core basis on which the FDA evaluates a product candidate’s safety and effectiveness when considering the product application.
The study sponsor, the FDA or an IRB may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a determination that study subjects are
being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Additionally, success in early-stage clinical trials does not assure success in later-stage clinical trials, and data from clinical
trials are not always conclusive and may be subject to alternative interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent approval.
NDA Submission and Review. After completing the clinical studies, a sponsor seeking approval to market a drug in the United States submits to the FDA a New
Drug Application (“NDA”). The NDA is a comprehensive, multi-volume application intended to demonstrate the product’s safety and effectiveness and includes, among
other things, preclinical and clinical data, information about the drug’s composition, the sponsor’s plans for manufacturing and packaging and proposed labeling. When an
NDA is submitted, the FDA makes an initial determination as to whether the application is sufficiently complete to be accepted for review. If the application is not, the FDA
may refuse to accept the NDA for filing and request additional information. A refusal to file, which requires resubmission of the NDA with the requested additional
information, delays review of the application.
FDA performance goals generally provide for action on an NDA within 12 months of its submission. That deadline can be extended under certain circumstances,
including by the FDA’s requests for additional information. The targeted action date can also be shortened to eight months after submission for products that are granted
priority review designation because they are intended to treat serious or life-threatening conditions and demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs. The FDA
has other programs to expedite development and review of product candidates that address serious or life-threatening conditions. For example, the Fast Track program is
intended to facilitate the development and review of new drugs that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs involving serious or life-threatening diseases or
conditions. If a drug receives Fast Track designation, the FDA may review sections of the NDA on a rolling basis, rather than requiring the entire application to be submitted
to begin the review. Products with Fast Track designation also may be eligible for more frequent meetings and correspondence with the FDA about the product’s
development. Another FDA program intended to expedite development of qualifying products is Accelerated Approval, which allows approval on the basis of a surrogate
endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, subject to a requirement to conduct one or more confirmatory studies after approval to verify the product’s clinical
benefit. Breakthrough Therapy designation, which is available for drugs under development for serious or life-threatening conditions and where preliminary clinical evidence
shows that the drug may have substantial improvement on at least one clinically significant endpoint over available therapy, means that a drug will be eligible for all of the
benefits of Fast Track designation, as well as more intensive guidance from the FDA on an efficient drug development program and a commitment from the agency to involve
senior FDA managers in such guidance. Even if a product candidate qualifies for Fast Track designation or Breakthrough Therapy designation, the FDA may later decide that
the product no longer meets the conditions for designation, and/or may determine that the product does not meet the standards for approval. As applicable, we anticipate
seeking to utilize these programs to expedite the development and review of our product candidates, but we cannot ensure that our product candidates will qualify for such
programs.
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If the FDA concludes that an NDA does not meet the regulatory standards for approval, it typically issues a Complete Response letter, which communicates the
reasons for the agency’s decision not to approve the application and may request additional information, including additional clinical data. An NDA may be resubmitted with
the deficiencies addressed, but resubmission does not guarantee approval. Data from clinical trials are not always conclusive, and the FDA’s interpretation of data may differ
from the sponsor’s. Obtaining approval can take years, requires substantial resources and depends on a number of factors, including the severity of the targeted disease or
condition, the availability of alternative treatments, and the risks and benefits demonstrated in clinical trials. Additionally, as a condition of approval, the FDA may impose
restrictions that could affect the commercial prospects of a product and increase our costs, such as a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”), and/or post-approval
commitments to conduct additional clinical or non-clinical studies or to conduct surveillance programs to monitor the drug’s effects.
Moreover, once a product is approved, information about its safety or effectiveness from broader clinical use may limit or prevent successful commercialization
because of regulatory action or market forces or for other reasons. Post-approval modifications to a drug product, such as changes in indications, labeling or manufacturing
processes or facilities, may require development and submission of additional information or data in a new or supplemental NDA, which would also require FDA approval.
One of our product candidates, RX-0301 is an antisense oligonucleotide (“ASO”) compound. To date, the FDA has not approved any NDAs for any ASO
compounds for cancer treatment; however, the FDA has approved several ASO compounds in other therapeutic areas, such as fomivirsen (marketed as Vitravene ®) as a
treatment for cytomegalovirus retinitis, and mipomersen sodium (marketed as Kynamro®), as a treatment for homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. In addition, RX0301 is in a drug class known as Akt-1 inhibitors, and drugs from this class have not been approved by the FDA to date.
We have not submitted an NDA for any of our product candidates.
Exclusivity and Patent Protection. In the United States and elsewhere, certain regulatory exclusivities and patent rights can provide an approved drug product with
protection from certain competitors’ products for a period of time and within a certain scope. In the United States, those protections include regulatory exclusivity under the
under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”). The Hatch-Waxman Act provides periods of exclusivity for a
branded drug product that would serve as a reference listed drug (“RLD”) for a generic drug applicant filing an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”) or for an
applicant filing a 505(b)(2) NDA application. If such a product is a “new chemical entity” (“NCE”) generally meaning that the active moiety has never before been approved
in any drug—there is a period of five years from the product’s approval during which the FDA may not accept for filing any ANDA or 505(b)(2) application for a drug with
the same active moiety. An ANDA or 505(b)(2) application may be submitted after four years, however, if the sponsor of the application makes a Paragraph IV certification
(as described below). Such a product that is not an NCE may qualify for a three-year period of exclusivity if its NDA contains new clinical data, derived from studies
conducted by or for the sponsor, that were necessary for approval. In this instance, the three-year exclusivity period does not preclude filing or review of an ANDA or 505(b)
(2) application; rather, the FDA is precluded from granting final approval to the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application until three years after approval of the RLD. This 3-year
exclusivity applies only to the conditions of approval that required submission of the clinical data.
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The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for the restoration of a portion of the patent term lost during product development and FDA review of an NDA if approval of
the application is the first permitted commercial marketing of a drug containing the active ingredient. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time
between the effective date of the IND or the date of patent grant (whichever is later) and the date of submission of the NDA, plus the time between the date of submission of
the NDA and the date of FDA approval of the product. The maximum period of restoration is five years, and the patent cannot be extended to more than 14 years from the
date of FDA approval of the product. Only one patent claiming each approved product is eligible for restoration and the patent holder must apply for restoration within 60
days of approval.
Another form of regulatory exclusivity in the United States available is the Orphan Drug Act, which is available for drugs intended to treat rare diseases or
conditions, which generally are diseases or conditions that affect fewer than 200,000 persons in the United States. If a sponsor demonstrates that a drug is intended to treat a
rare disease or condition and meets other qualifying criteria, the FDA grants orphan drug designation to the product for that use. A product that has received orphan drug
designation is eligible for research and development tax credits and is exempt from user fees under certain circumstances. Additionally, a drug that is the first to be approved
for its orphan-designated indication generally receives seven years of orphan drug exclusivity. During that period, the FDA generally may not approve any other application
for a product containing the same active moiety and proposed for the same indication. There are exceptions, however, most notably when the later product is shown to be
clinically superior to the product with exclusivity. An approved orphan drug also may qualify for an exemption from the branded prescription drug fee. Products that qualify
for orphan designation may also qualify for other FDA programs that are intended to expedite the development and approval process and, as a practical matter, clinical trials
for orphan products may be smaller, simply because of the smaller patient population. Nonetheless, the same approval standards apply to orphan-designated products as for
other drugs.
RX-3117 received orphan drug designation for pancreatic cancer from the FDA in September 2014.
A medicinal product may be granted an orphan designation in the EU if: (i) it would be used to treat or prevent a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition
and either affects no more than five in 10,000 people in the EU or for economic reasons would be unlikely to be developed without incentives; and (ii) no satisfactory method
of diagnosis, prevention or treatment of the condition concerned exists, or, if such a method exists, the medicinal product would be of significant benefit to those affected by
the condition. The application for orphan designation must be submitted to the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) and approved prior to market authorization. Once
authorized, orphan medicinal products are entitled to ten years of market exclusivity. During this ten-year period, with limited exceptions, neither the competent authorities of
the EU Member States, the EMA, nor the EC are permitted to accept applications or grant marketing authorization for other similar medicinal products with the same
therapeutic indication. However, marketing authorization may be granted to a similar medicinal product with the same orphan indication during that period with the consent
of the holder of the marketing authorization or if the manufacturer of the product is unable to supply sufficient quantities. Marketing authorization may also be granted to a
similar medicinal product with the same orphan indication if the latter product is safer, more effective or otherwise clinically superior to the original product. The period of
market exclusivity may be reduced to six years if it can be demonstrated on the basis of available evidence that the original orphan medicinal product is sufficiently profitable
not to justify maintenance of market exclusivity.
RX-3117 received orphan designation from the EC in January 2018.
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Competition. The Hatch-Waxman Act establishes two abbreviated approval pathways for drug products that are in some way follow-on versions of already
approved branded NDA products: (i) generic versions of the approved RLD, which may be approved under an ANDA by showing that the generic product is the “same as”
the approved product in key respects; and (ii) a product that is similar but not identical to the RLD, which may be approved under a 505(b)(2) NDA, in which the sponsor
relies to some degree on the FDA’s finding that the RLD is safe and effective, but submits its own product-specific data to support the differences between the product and the
RLD.
The sponsor of an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application seeking to rely on an approved product as the RLD must make one of several certifications regarding each patent
for the RLD that is listed in the FDA publication, Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, which is referred to as the Orange Book. A “Paragraph
III” certification is the sponsor’s statement that it will wait for the patent to expire before obtaining approval for its product. A “Paragraph IV” certification is an assertion that
the patent does not block approval of the later product, either because the patent is invalid or unenforceable or because the patent, even if valid, is not infringed by the new
product. Once the FDA accepts for filing an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application containing a Paragraph IV certification, the applicant must within 20 days provide notice to the
RLD NDA holder and patent owner that the application has been submitted, and provide the factual and legal basis for the applicant’s assertion that the patent is invalid or not
infringed. If the NDA holder or patent owner files suit against the ANDA or 505(b)(2) applicant for patent infringement within 45 days of receiving the Paragraph IV notice,
the FDA is prohibited from approving the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application for a period of 30 months or the resolution of the underlying suit, whichever is earlier.
Post-Approval Regulation
Once approved, drug products are subject to continuing extensive regulation by the FDA. If ongoing regulatory requirements are not met, or if safety problems occur
after a product reaches market, the FDA may take actions to change the conditions under which the product is marketed, including limiting, suspending or even withdrawing
approval. In addition to FDA regulation, our business is also subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign regulation.
Good Manufacturing Practices. Companies engaged in manufacturing drug products or their components must comply with applicable current Good Manufacturing
Practice (“cGMP”) requirements, which include requirements regarding organization and training of personnel, building and facilities, equipment, control of components and
drug product containers, closures, production and process controls, packaging and labeling controls, holding and distribution, laboratory controls and records and reports. The
FDA inspects equipment, facilities and manufacturing processes before approval and conducts periodic re-inspections after approval. Failure to comply with applicable cGMP
requirements or the conditions of the product’s approval may lead the FDA to seek sanctions, including fines, civil penalties, injunctions, suspension of manufacturing
operations, imposition of operating restrictions, withdrawal of FDA approval, seizure or recall of products, and criminal prosecution. Although we periodically monitor FDA
compliance of the third parties on which we rely for manufacturing our drug products, we cannot be certain that our present or future third-party manufacturers will
consistently comply with cGMP or other applicable FDA regulatory requirements.
Sales and Marketing. Once a product is approved, its advertising, promotion and marketing will be subject to close regulation, including with regard to promotion to
healthcare practitioners, direct-to-consumer advertising, communications regarding unapproved uses, industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities and promotional
activities involving the internet. In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, state and federal fraud and abuse laws have been applied to restrict
certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. Failure to comply with applicable requirements in this area may subject a company to adverse publicity,
investigations and enforcement action by the FDA, the Department of Justice, the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services, and/or
state authorities. This could subject a company to a range of penalties that could have a significant commercial impact, including civil and criminal fines and agreements that
materially restrict the manner in which a company promotes or distributes drug or biological products.
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Other Requirements. Companies that manufacture or distribute drug products pursuant to approved NDAs must meet numerous other regulatory requirements,
including adverse event reporting, submission of periodic reports, and record-keeping obligations.
Fraud and Abuse Laws. At such time as we market, sell and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing approval, it is possible that our business activities
could be subject to scrutiny and enforcement under one or more federal or state health care fraud and abuse laws and regulations, which could affect our ability to operate our
business. These restrictions under applicable federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include:
•

The federal Anti-Kickback Law, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly or willingly offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration
(interpreted to include anything of value), directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease or order of, any health care items or service for which payment may be
made, in whole or in part, by federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements
between pharmaceutical companies on one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other. Liability may be established under the
federal Anti-Kickback Law without proving actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the government may assert that a
claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Law constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the
federal civil False Claims Act. Although there are a number of statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors to the federal Anti-Kickback Law
protecting certain common business arrangements and activities from prosecution or regulatory sanctions, the exemptions and safe harbors are drawn
narrowly, and practices that do not fit squarely within an exemption or safe harbor, or for which no exception or safe harbor is available, may be subject to
scrutiny.

•

The federal civil False Claims Act, which prohibits, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a
false or fraudulent claim for payment of government funds or knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to
an obligation to pay money to the government or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to
pay money to the federal government. Private individuals, commonly known as “whistleblowers,” can bring civil False Claims Act qui tam actions, on
behalf of the government and such individuals and may share in amounts paid by the entity to the government in recovery or settlement. False Claims Act
liability is potentially significant in the healthcare industry because the statute provides for treble damages and significant mandatory penalties per false or
fraudulent claim or statement. The government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim under the federal civil False Claims Act. Many pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been
investigated and have reached substantial financial settlements with the federal government under the civil False Claims Act for a variety of alleged
improper marketing activities, including: providing free product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the
product; providing sham consulting fees, grants, free travel and other benefits to physicians to induce them to prescribe the company’s products; and inflating
prices reported to private price publication services, which are used to set drug payment rates under government healthcare programs. In addition, in recent
years the government has pursued civil False Claims Act cases against a number of pharmaceutical companies for causing false claims to be submitted as a
result of the marketing of their products for unapproved, and thus non-reimbursable, uses. Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies also are subject to
other federal false claim laws, including, among others, federal criminal healthcare fraud and false statement statutes that extend to non-government health
benefit programs.
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•

Analogous state and local laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and
claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers; state and foreign laws that
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance
promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers; and state and foreign laws that require drug
manufacturers to report information related to clinical trials, or information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other
healthcare providers or marketing expenditures;

•

The federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, which requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics,
and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to
report annually to CMS information related to direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as
ownership and investment interests held in the company by physicians and their immediate family members. Beginning in 2022, applicable manufacturers
also will be required to report information regarding payments and transfers of value provided to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse
specialists, certified nurse anesthetists, and certified nurse-midwives.

•

The federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1997 and other similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their
intermediaries from providing money or anything of value to officials of foreign governments, foreign political parties or international organizations with the
intent to obtain or retain business or seek a business advantage. Recently, there has been a substantial increase in anti-bribery law enforcement activity by
U.S. regulators, with more frequent and aggressive investigations and enforcement proceedings by both the Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Violations of United States or foreign laws or regulations could result in the imposition of substantial fines,
interruptions of business, loss of supplier, vendor or other third-party relationships, termination of necessary licenses and permits and other legal or equitable
sanctions. Other internal or government investigations or legal or regulatory proceedings, including lawsuits brought by private litigants, may also follow as
a consequence.

Violations of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations are punishable by significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines
and exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid. Although compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and
prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be entirely eliminated. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with applicable federal and state privacy,
security and fraud laws may prove costly.
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Privacy Laws. We are also subject to numerous federal, state and foreign laws and regulations governing data privacy and the collection, use, disclosure and
protection of certain health-related and other personal information, including state data breach notification laws, state health information and/or genetic privacy laws, and
federal and state consumer protection laws, such as Section 5 of the FTC Act and the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), many of which differ from each other
in significant ways, thus complicating compliance efforts. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there has been an
increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues that may affect our business, including recently enacted laws in all jurisdictions where we operate. Compliance with
these laws is difficult, constantly evolving, and time consuming, and companies that do not comply with these state laws may face civil penalties. Failure to comply with such
laws and regulations could also result in government enforcement actions and create liability for us (including the imposition of significant penalties), private litigation and/or
adverse publicity that could negatively affect our business. In addition, if we successfully commercialize our product candidates, we may obtain patient health information
from healthcare providers who prescribe our products and research institutions we collaborate with, and they are subject to privacy and security requirements under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing regulations (“HIPAA”). HIPAA imposes obligations with respect to safeguarding the privacy,
security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA other than potentially with respect to providing
certain employee benefits, we could potentially be subject to criminal penalties if we, our affiliates or our agents knowingly obtain, use or disclose individually identifiable
health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.
Coverage and Reimbursement
Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval. The regulations
that govern marketing approvals, pricing and reimbursement for new drug products vary widely from country to country. Current and future legislation may significantly
change the approval requirements in ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a
drug before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some foreign markets,
prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval
for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, which could
negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that particular country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our
investment in one or more product candidates even if our product candidates obtain marketing approval.
Our ability to commercialize any products successfully also will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products and
related treatments will be available in a timely manner from government third-party payors, including government healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid,
commercial health insurers and managed care organizations. Government authorities and other third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance
organizations, determine which medications they will cover and establish reimbursement levels. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved
list, or formulary, which may not include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for
a product may be separate from the process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product once coverage is approved.
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A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government healthcare programs and other third-party payors are increasingly
challenging the prices charged for medical products and services and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, in addition to
their safety and efficacy, and have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, third-party
payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot
be sure that coverage and reimbursement will be available promptly or at all for any product that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, what the level of
reimbursement will be. Moreover, eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not imply that any drug will be paid for in all cases. Limited coverage may impact the
demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. If coverage and reimbursement are not available or reimbursement is available
only to limited levels, we may not successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.
Obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement is a time-consuming and costly process. There may be significant delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement
for newly approved drugs, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the drug is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities.
Moreover, eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not imply that a drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development,
manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may only be temporary.
Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost
drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government
healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than
in the United States. Limited coverage may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. Third-party payors also
may seek additional clinical evidence, including expensive pharmacoeconomic studies, beyond the data required to obtain marketing approval, demonstrating clinical benefits
and value in specific patient populations, before covering our products for those patients. If reimbursement is available only for limited indications, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable reimbursement rates
from both government-funded and private payors for any approved products that we develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise
capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.
United States Healthcare Reform
The United States and many foreign jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system that could prevent or
delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidate for which we
obtain marketing approval. The United States government, state legislatures and foreign governments also have shown significant interest in implementing cost-containment
programs to limit the growth of government-paid healthcare costs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products
for branded prescription drugs.
In recent years, Congress has considered reductions in Medicare reimbursement levels for drugs administered by physicians. CMS, the agency that administers the
Medicare and Medicaid programs, also has authority to revise reimbursement rates and to implement coverage restrictions for some drugs. Cost reduction initiatives and
changes in coverage implemented through legislation or regulation could decrease utilization of and reimbursement for any approved products, which in turn would affect the
price we can receive for those products. While Medicare regulations apply only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage
policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from federal legislation or regulation may
result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.
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The Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively, the “Affordable Care Act”), has substantially changed the
way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers, and significantly impacts the pharmaceutical industry. The Affordable Care Act is intended to broaden
access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies against healthcare fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements
for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers, and impose additional health policy reforms.
The Affordable Care Act and certain of its provisions have been subject to judicial challenges, as well as efforts to repeal or replace them or to alter their interpretation or
implementation. In addition, there have been efforts by the Trump Administration and Congress to repeal or replace certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act and to alter the
implementation of the Affordable Care Act and related laws. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, enacted on December 22, 2017, eliminated the tax-based shared
responsibility payment for individuals who fail to maintain minimum essential coverage under section 5000A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly referred to as
the individual mandate. In December 2018, a United States District Court Judge for the Northern District of Texas ruled that individual mandate is (i) unconstitutional as a
result of the associated tax penalty being repealed by Congress as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and (ii) not severable from the rest of the ACA, and that as a result the
entire ACA is invalid. On December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision that the individual mandate is
unconstitutional, but remanded the case to the district court to reconsider the severability question. It is unclear how the ultimate decision in this case, or other efforts to
repeal, replace, or invalidate the ACA or its implementing regulations, or portions thereof, will impact the ACA and implementation. Additional legislative changes,
regulatory changes and judicial challenges related to the Affordable Care Act remain possible. Any such changes could decrease the number of individuals with health
coverage. It is possible that the Affordable Care Act, as currently enacted or as it may be amended in the future, and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in
the future could have a material adverse effect on our industry generally and on our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, if approved.
In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. For example, recent legislative enactments have
resulted in Medicare payments to providers being subject to a reduction of, on average, two percent, referred to as sequestration, until 2029. Continuation of sequestration or
enactment of other reductions in Medicare reimbursement for drugs could affect our ability to achieve a profit on any candidate products that are approved for marketing.
We expect that the Affordable Care Act, as well as other healthcare reform measures that have been adopted and may be adopted in the future, may result in more
rigorous coverage criteria and new payment methodologies, and in additional downward pressure on coverage and payment and the price that we receive for any approved
product, and could seriously harm our future revenues. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid or other government programs may result in a similar
reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate
revenue, attain profitability or commercialize our products.
Foreign Regulation
In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a number of significant regulations in other jurisdictions regarding clinical trials, approval,
manufacturing, marketing and promotion and safety reporting. These requirements and restrictions vary from country to country, but in many instances are similar to the
United States requirements, and failure to comply with them could have the same negative effects as noncompliance in the United States.
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Sales and Marketing
We do not currently have the sales and marketing infrastructure in place that would be necessary to sell and market products. As our product candidates progress,
while we may build the infrastructure that would be needed to successfully market and sell any successful drug candidate on our own, we currently anticipate seeking strategic
alliances and partnerships with third parties. The establishment of a sales and marketing operation can be expensive, complicated and time consuming and could delay any
product candidate launch.
Manufacturing and Distribution
We have no experience in drug formulation or manufacturing, and we lack the resources and expertise to formulate or manufacture our own product candidates
internally. Therefore, we rely on third-party expertise to support us in this area. We have entered into contracts with third-party manufacturers to manufacture, supply, and
store and distribute supplies of our product candidates for our clinical trials. If any of our product candidates receive FDA approval, we expect to rely on third-party
contractors to manufacture our drugs. We have no current plans to build internal manufacturing capacity for any product, and we have no long-term supply arrangements.
Intellectual Property
We generally seek proprietary patent and intellectual property (“IP”) protection for our product candidates, processes, and other know-how. In addition to patent
protection, we rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation and licensing opportunities to develop, safeguard and maintain our IP.
We hold U.S. and foreign patents for our product candidates that expire from 2023 to 2036. We hold U.S., European and Japanese patents for RX-3117 and RX5902. In addition to these patents, we have issued or pending patents in other jurisdictions.
The patent portfolios for our most advanced programs are summarized below:
RX-3117:
The RX-3117 patent portfolio consists of three patent families. The first family consists of patents that have been issued in the United States, Europe, Japan and
other jurisdictions. The patents in this family include composition of matter, use and process claims of varying scope, including picture claims to RX-3117 or a
pharmaceutically acceptable salt thereof. The patents in this first family expire in 2025 but may be extended by patent term extension and orphan and market
exclusivity. The second family consists of patents that have been issued in the United States, Europe and Japan and are pending in other jurisdictions. The patents in
the second family include process claims that cover RX-3117. The patents in this second family expire in 2034. The third family consists of a patent that is issued in
the United States and pending in other jurisdictions. This patent includes use claims that cover the administration of RX-3117. This patent expires in 2036.
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RX-5902:
The RX-5902 patent portfolio consists of three patent families. The first family consists of patents that have been issued in the United States and Europe and are
pending other jurisdictions. The patents in the first family include composition of matter, use and process claims of varying scope, including picture claims to RX5902 or a pharmaceutically acceptable salt thereof. The patents in this first family expire in 2025 and may be extended up to five years in the United States. We also
expect RX-5902 will be protected with market exclusivity in Europe for a minimum of ten years post-approval and in Japan for eight years. The second family consists
of patents that are issued in the United States and Japan and pending in Europe and other jurisdictions. The patents in the second family include formulation and
process claims that cover RX-5902. The patents in this second family would expire in 2034. The third family consists of a patent that is issued in the United States
and pending elsewhere. The patent in the third family includes use claims that cover RX-5902. This patent will expire in 2036.
Collaboration and License Arrangements
We have numerous collaborative research and development relationships with universities, research institutions pharmaceutical companies and other organizations.
BioSense Global LLC
On February 25, 2019, we entered into the Collaboration and License Agreement with BioSense to advance the development and commercialization of RX-3117 for
pancreatic and other cancers in the Republic of Singapore, China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan (the “Territory”). Under the terms of the Collaboration and License
Agreement, we will grant BioSense an exclusive license to develop and commercialize pharmaceutical products containing RX-3117 as a single agent for the prevention or
treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer and other forms of cancer in the Territory that is effective upon payment in full of an upfront payment. The upfront payment consists
of an aggregate of $3,000,000, $1,500,000 of which has been paid. Under the Collaboration and License Agreement, we are also eligible to receive milestone payments (i) in
an aggregate of up to $126,000,000 for the achievement of development and regulatory goals in China and (ii) in an aggregate of up to $100,000,000 for the achievement of
annual sales goals in the Territory with respect to each pharmaceutical product containing RX-3117 as a single agent. We will also be eligible to receive tiered royalties in the
low double digits to mid-teens on annual net sales in the Territory.
Zhejiang HaiChang Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
In February 2018, we entered into a research and development collaboration agreement (the “HaiChang Collaboration Agreement”) with HaiChang, a privately
owned specialized biotechnology company incorporated in Hangzhou, China and focused on the development and manufacture of complex intravenous pharmaceutical
products primarily for cancer treatment.
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On February 8, 2020, we entered into the HaiChang License Agreement, pursuant to which we granted HaiChang an exclusive (even as to us), royalty-bearing,
sublicensable worldwide license to research, develop and commercialize pharmaceutical products comprising RX-0201 (subject to and limited by the exclusive rights of
NEXT BT Co. Ltd (“Next BT”) with respect to RX-0201 in Asia), RX-0301, and RX-0047, a proprietary compound currently in preclinical development. HaiChang has
agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize one product comprising RX-0301 and one product comprising
RX-0047.
HaiChang will pay us a one-time upfront payment in the amount of $250,000 for certain materials to be transferred by us to HaiChang. HaiChang will pay us
development milestone payments in an aggregate of up to $63,000,000 with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 and up to $33,000,000 with respect to RX-0047, and royalties
based on percentages of net sales in the low tens with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 and the mid-single digits with respect to RX-0047. However, if HaiChang exclusively
sublicenses its rights to a third party with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 or RX-0047 in a particular jurisdiction, instead of the foregoing milestones and royalties to the
extent relating to such compound(s) and jurisdiction, HaiChang will pay us a percentage of any sublicensing revenue received by HaiChang, provided that in any event
HaiChang will pay a milestone payment on initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial that is subject to reduction by the amount of any sublicensing revenue paid with respect to the
applicable compound(s) as of the time of initiation of the trial.
In connection with entering into the HaiChang License Agreement, the parties terminated the HaiChang Collaboration Agreement.
Merck Sharp & Dohme B.V.
In August 2018, we entered into a clinical trial collaboration and supply agreement with Merck to conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy
of the combination of RX-5902 with Merck’s anti-PD‑1 therapy, KEYTRUDA, in patients with metastatic TNBC. Under the terms of the agreement, we will sponsor the
clinical trial and Merck will supply us with KEYTRUDA for use in the trial. The agreement provides that the parties will jointly own clinical data generated from this trial.
We are currently evaluating the development strategy for RX-5902 and may or may not proceed with this trial.
Next BT
In February 2003, we entered into a research collaboration agreement with Rexgene Biotech Co., Ltd. (“Rexgene”), which agreed to assist us with the research,
development and clinical trials necessary for registration of RX-0201 in Asia. Under the agreement, we granted Rexgene an exclusive license, with right to sublicense, to
make, have made, use, sell and import RX-0201 in Asia. In accordance with the agreement, Rexgene paid us a one-time fee of $1,500,000 in 2003.
On February 5, 2018, we entered into a royalty and release agreement with Next BT, the successor in interest to Rexgene. In exchange for Next BT terminating its
rights to RX-0201 in Asia, we agreed to pay Next BT a royalty in the low single digits of any net sales of RX-0201 we make in Asia and 50% of our licensing revenue related
to licensing of RX-0201 in Asia, up to an aggregate of $5,000,000. The agreement will terminate upon the earlier of Next BT’s receipt of $5,000,000 under the agreement,
February 5, 2025 if Next BT has received at least $3,000,000 under the agreement by that date, and the date after February 5, 2025 that Next BT has received cumulative
payments of $3,000,000 under the agreement. On June 18, 2018, we amended the royalty and release agreement with Next BT, to reinstate the exclusive license to RX-0201
in Asia. We retained the rights to RX-0301 in Asia and elsewhere.
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Korea Research Institute of Chemical Technology (“KRICT”)
In June 2009, we entered into a license agreement with KRICT to acquire rights to all of KRICT’s intellectual property related to quinoxaline-piperazine derivatives,
which includes RX-5902. We paid an initial license fee of $100,000 in July 2009, and will pay a one-time milestone payment of $1,000,000 to KRICT upon marketing
approval from FDA for the first commercial product stemming from the licensed intellectual property (the “Milestone Payment”). Upon payment of the Milestone Payment,
all of the rights previously licensed to us will be transferred to us and the agreement will terminate. The agreement is terminable by either party for the other party’s material
breach, subject to a 60-day cure period. To date, we have paid only the $100,000 initial license fee pursuant to this agreement.
Employees
As of February 21, 2020, we employed five individuals, all of whom are full-time employees. We have never had a work stoppage, and none of our employees are
represented by a labor organization or covered by collective bargaining arrangements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Corporate Information
We are a Delaware corporation and trace our history to the March 2001 founding of Rexahn, Corp. Our principal executive offices are located in Rockville,
Maryland. Our website address is www.rexahn.com. We make available free of charge on our website annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practical after filing or furnishing with the SEC. Information found on, or that can be accessed
through, our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”).
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Item 1A.
Risk Factors.
Investing in our stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information included in this Form 10-K.
Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected by any of these risks. If any of these risks occur, the value of our common stock could
decline.
Risks Related to Our Evaluation of Strategic Alternatives
Our activities to evaluate and pursue strategic alternatives may not result in any definitive transaction or enhance shareholder value, and may create a distraction for our
management and uncertainty that may adversely affect our operating results and business.
We have commenced a process to evaluate strategic alternatives in order to enhance stockholder value, including the possibility of an acquisition, merger, reverse
merger, other business combination, sales of assets, licensing, or other strategic transactions involving the Company. We have engaged Oppenheimer and Co. Inc., as our
financial advisor to assist us in this process. In connection with the evaluation of strategic alternatives, we are evaluating opportunities to extend our resources and have
reduced our headcount to five employees. We expect to devote significant time and resources to identifying and evaluating strategic transactions and this process may create a
distraction, uncertainty or the loss of business opportunities, which may adversely affect our operating results and business. In addition, the fact that we have very few
employees could make it difficult to evaluate strategic alternatives. There can be no assurance that the process to evaluate strategic alternatives will result in agreements or
transactions. The current market price of our common stock may reflect a market assumption that a transaction will occur, and a failure to complete a transaction could result
in a negative investor perceptions and could cause a decline in the market price of our common stock, which could adversely affect our ability to access the equity and
financial markets, as well as our ability to explore and enter into different strategic alternatives. Even if we negotiate a definitive agreement, there can be no certainty that any
transaction will be completed, be on attractive terms, enhance stockholder value or deliver the anticipated benefits, and successful integration or execution of the strategic
alternatives will be subject to additional risks. In addition, potential strategic transactions that require stockholder approval may not be approved by our stockholders. If we
do not successfully consummate a strategic transaction, our board of directors may decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation of our company. In such an event, the
amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders will depend heavily on the timing of such liquidation as well as the amount of cash that will need to be reserved
for commitments and contingent liabilities.
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Needs
We currently have no product revenues, have incurred negative cash flows from operations since inception and will need to raise additional capital to operate our
business.
To date, we have generated no product revenues and have incurred negative cash flow from operations. Until we receive approval from the FDA or other regulatory
authorities for our product candidates, we cannot sell our drugs and will not have product revenues. We expect to continue to incur significant development and other
expenses related to our ongoing operations. Therefore, for the foreseeable future, we will have to fund all of our operations and capital expenditures from the net proceeds of
equity or debt offerings, cash on hand, licensing fees and grants, if any. If we are not able to raise sufficient funds, we will have to reduce our research and development
activities, and it may be more difficult to develop our pipeline. We will first reduce research and development activities associated with any preclinical compounds. To the
extent necessary, we will then reduce our research and development activities related to our clinical stage product candidates.
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Unforeseen events, difficulties, complications and delays may occur that could cause us to utilize our existing capital at a faster rate than projected, including the
progress of our research and development efforts, the cost and timing of regulatory approvals and the costs of protecting our intellectual property rights. We may seek
additional financing to implement and fund other product candidate development, clinical trial and research and development efforts, including clinical trials for other new
product candidates, as well as other research and development projects.
We will need additional financing to continue to develop our product candidates, which may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. If we are unable to secure
additional financing in the future on acceptable terms, or at all, we may be unable to complete our planned preclinical and clinical trials or obtain approval of our product
candidates from the FDA and other regulatory authorities. In addition, we may be forced to reduce or discontinue product development or product licensing, reduce or forego
sales and marketing efforts and forego attractive business opportunities in order to improve our liquidity to enable us to continue operations. Any additional sources of
financing will likely involve the sale of our equity securities or securities convertible into our equity securities, which may have a dilutive effect on our stockholders.
We are not currently profitable and may never become profitable.
Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses. Our accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $163,322,676 and $154,687,242,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had net losses of $8,635,434 and $14,368,530, respectively. Even if we succeed in developing and
commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we expect to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future and may never become profitable. We also expect to
continue to incur significant operating and capital expenditures, including related to:
•

continued preclinical development and clinical trials for our product candidates;

•

finding and maintaining suitable partnerships to help us research, develop and commercialize product candidates;

•

efforts to seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

•

implementing additional internal systems and infrastructure; and

•

hiring additional personnel or entering into relationships with third parties to perform functions that we are unable to perform on our own.

We also expect to continue to experience negative cash flow for the foreseeable future as we fund our operations and capital expenditures. Until we have the capacity
to generate revenues, we are relying upon outside funding resources to fund our cash flow requirements. If these resources are depleted or unavailable, it may be more
difficult to develop our pipeline, we may be unable to continue to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.
We have a limited operating history, we have no products approved for sale and we have not demonstrated an ability to commercialize product candidates.
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We are a clinical-stage company with a limited number of product candidates. We currently do not have any products that have gained regulatory approval, and we
have not demonstrated an ability to perform the functions necessary for the successful commercialization of any of our product candidates. The successful commercialization
of our product candidates will require us to first perform a variety of functions, including:
•

successfully conducting preclinical and clinical trials;

•

obtaining regulatory approval;

•

formulating and manufacturing products; and

•

conducting sales and marketing activities.

To date, our operations have been limited to organizing and staffing the Company, acquiring, developing and securing our proprietary technology, and undertaking
product candidate research and development, including preclinical studies and clinical trials of our principal product candidates. These operations provide a limited basis for
assessing our ability to commercialize product candidates.
If we fail to comply with the continued listing standards of the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stock could be delisted. If it is delisted, our common stock and the
liquidity of our common stock would be impacted.
The continued listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) is contingent on our continued compliance with a number of listing standards.
There is no assurance that we will remain in compliance with these standards. Delisting from Nasdaq would adversely affect our ability to raise additional financing through
the public or private sale of equity securities, significantly affect the ability of investors to trade our securities and negatively affect the value and liquidity of our common
stock. Delisting also could limit our strategic alternatives and attractiveness to potential counterparties and have other negative results, including the potential loss of
employee confidence, the loss of institutional investors or interest in business development opportunities. Moreover, we committed in connection with the sale of securities to
use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the listing of our common stock during such time that certain warrants are outstanding.
Risks Related to Our Business
Two of our product candidates are in clinical trials, which are very expensive, time-consuming and difficult to design and implement.
Our product candidates are in various stages of development and require extensive clinical testing. Such testing is expensive and time-consuming and requires
specialized knowledge and expertise.
Human clinical trials are expensive and difficult to design and implement, in part because they are subject to rigorous regulatory requirements. The clinical trial
process is also time-consuming, and the outcome is not certain. We estimate that clinical trials of our current product candidates will take multiple years to complete. Failure
can occur at any stage of a clinical trial, and we could encounter problems that cause us to abandon or repeat clinical trials. The commencement and completion of clinical
trials may be delayed or precluded by a number of factors, including:
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•

the cost of preclinical studies and clinical trials may be greater than we anticipate;

•

delay or failure in reaching agreement with the FDA or a foreign regulatory authority on the design of a given trial, or in obtaining authorization to commence a
trial;

•

delay or failure in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites;

•

delay or failure in obtaining approval of an IRB to conduct a clinical trial at a given site;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial sites from our clinical trials, including as a result of changing standards of care or the ineligibility of a site to participate;

•

delay or failure in recruiting and enrolling study subjects;

•

delay or failure in having subjects complete a clinical trial or return for post-treatment follow up;

•

clinical sites or investigators deviating from trial protocol, failing to conduct the trial in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, or dropping out of a
trial;

•

inability to identify and maintain a sufficient number of trial sites;

•

failure of third-party CROs to meet their contractual obligations or deadlines;

•

the need to modify a study protocol;

•

negative or inconclusive results during clinical trials, including the emergence of dosing issues, unforeseen safety issues or lack of effectiveness;

•

changes in the standard of care of the indication being studied;

•

reliance on third-party suppliers for the clinical trial supply of product candidates;

•

inability to monitor patients adequately during or after treatment;

•

lack of sufficient funding to finance the clinical trials; and

•

changes in governmental regulations or administrative action.

We, the FDA or an IRB may suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including if it appears that the clinical trial is exposing participants to
unacceptable health risks or if the FDA finds deficiencies in our IND applications or the conduct of the trial. If we experience delays in the completion of, or the termination
of, any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues from any of
these product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and
approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and
prospects significantly. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the
denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates or result in early termination of development of our product candidates.
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Preclinical studies and preliminary and interim data from clinical trials of our product candidates are not necessarily predictive of the results or success of ongoing or
later clinical trials of our product candidates. If we cannot replicate the results from our preclinical studies and initial clinical trials of our product candidates in later
clinical trials, we may be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize our product candidates for any particular use, if at all.
Preclinical studies and any positive preliminary and interim data from our clinical trials of our product candidates may not necessarily be predictive of the results of
ongoing or later clinical trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including us and many other companies with greater resources and
experience than we, have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even after seeing promising results in prior clinical trials. Even if we are able to complete our planned
clinical trials of our product candidates according to our current development timeline, initial positive results from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be
replicated in subsequent clinical trial results. The design of our later stage clinical trials could differ in significant ways (e.g., inclusion and exclusion criteria, endpoints,
statistical analysis plan) from our earlier stage clinical trials, which could cause the outcomes of the later stage trials to differ from those of our earlier stage clinical trials. If
we fail to produce positive results in our planned clinical trials of any of our product candidates, the development timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization
prospects for our product candidates, and, correspondingly, our business and financial prospects, would be materially adversely affected.
If the results of our clinical trials fail to support the approval of any of our product candidates, the completion of development of that candidate may be significantly
delayed, or we may be forced to abandon development altogether, which will significantly impair our ability to generate product revenues.
Even if our clinical trials are completed as planned, we cannot be certain that clinical results will support approval of our product candidates. Success in preclinical
testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and we cannot be sure that the results of later clinical trials will replicate the results of
prior clinical trials and preclinical testing. The clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that one or more of our product candidates are safe and effective for indicated
uses. As a result, we may have to conduct additional clinical trials or may decide to abandon a product candidate, in which case we may never recognize any revenue related
to such candidate. Standard of care treatments may change, which may require additional clinical trials. Repeating clinical trials or conducting additional clinical trials will
increase our development costs and delay the filing of an NDA and, ultimately, delay our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate product revenues.
We may not obtain the necessary U.S. or worldwide regulatory approvals to commercialize our product candidates, and we cannot guarantee how long it will take the
FDA or other comparable regulatory agencies to review applications for our product candidates.
We will need FDA approval to commercialize our product candidates in the United States and approvals from the comparable regulatory authorities to
commercialize our product candidates in foreign jurisdictions.
The time it takes to obtain approval, either in the United States or foreign jurisdictions, is unpredictable, but typically takes many years, depending upon a variety of
factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidate. Obtaining approval requires substantial resources and is subject to regulatory authorities’
substantial discretion. In addition, approval policies, regulations or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product
candidate’s development and may vary among jurisdictions. We cannot guarantee that any of our product candidates will ultimately be approved by the FDA or any other
regulatory authority, or the length of time obtaining approval will take. One of our product candidates, RX-0301, is in the drug class known as Akt-1 inhibitors that to date
have not been approved by the FDA, and we have not submitted an NDA for any Akt-1 inhibitor.
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Our product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval from the FDA or a comparable foreign authority for a variety of reasons, including:
•

disagreement with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

•

failure to demonstrate to the authority’s satisfaction that the product candidate is safe and effective for the proposed indication;

•

failure of clinical trial results to meet the level of statistical significance required for approval;

•

failure to demonstrate that the product’s benefits outweigh its risks;

•

disagreement with our interpretation of preclinical or clinical data; and

•

inadequacies in the manufacturing facilities or processes of third-party manufacturers.

The FDA or a comparable foreign authority may require us to conduct additional preclinical and clinical testing, which may delay or prevent approval and our
commercialization plans or cause us to abandon the development program. Further, any approval we receive may be for fewer or more limited indications than we request,
may not include labeling claims necessary for successful commercialization of the product candidate, or may be contingent upon our conducting costly post-marketing clinical
trials. Any of these scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects of a product candidate.
Any of our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that could delay or prevent its regulatory approval, limit its commercial
viability, or result in significant negative consequences following any marketing approval.
Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more
restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authority. Side effects could affect patient recruitment, the
ability of enrolled subjects to complete the trial, and/or result in potential product liability claims. Results of our trials could reveal an unacceptably high severity and
prevalence of side effects. In such an event, our trials could be suspended or terminated, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease
further development or deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. If we do not receive approval to market any product candidates, we will be
unable to generate revenues from those product candidates and this may prevent us from achieving profitability.
Additionally, if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such product, a number
of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:
•

we may suspend marketing of such product;
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•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approvals of such product;

•

regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label that could diminish the usage or otherwise limit the commercial success of such products;

•

we may be required to develop a REMS for such product or, if a REMS is already in place, to incorporate additional requirements under the REMS, or to develop
a similar strategy as required by a comparable foreign regulatory authority;

•

we may be required to conduct post-market studies;

•

we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to subjects or patients; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, and may harm our business, financial
condition and prospects significantly.
We are developing RX-3117, and may develop other product candidates, in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional regulatory risks.
We are developing RX-3117 in combination with ABRAXANE and may develop other product candidates in combination with one or more currently approved
cancer therapies. Even if any product candidate we develop were to receive marketing approval or be commercialized for use in combination with other existing therapies, we
would continue to be subject to the risk that the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with our product
candidate or that safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with these existing therapies. This could result in our own products being removed from the
market or being less successful commercially. Combination therapies are commonly used for the treatment of cancer, and we would be subject to similar risks if we develop
any of our product candidates for use in combination with other drugs or for indications other than cancer.
We may also evaluate product candidates in combination with one or more other cancer therapies that have not yet been approved for marketing by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. We will not be able to market and sell any product candidate we develop in combination with any such unapproved cancer
therapies that do not ultimately obtain marketing approval.
If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities do not approve, or revoke their approval of, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues arise with,
the products and product candidates we choose to evaluate in combination with our product candidates, we may be unable to obtain approval of or market our product
candidates.
Even if our product candidates obtain approval, they may face future development and regulatory difficulties that can negatively affect commercial prospects.
Even if we obtain approval for a product candidate, it would be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements and restrictions of the FDA and comparable regulatory
authorities regarding manufacturing, quality control, further development, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, import, export, advertising,
promotion, recordkeeping and reporting. Failure by us or any of the third parties on which we rely to meet those requirements can lead to enforcement action, among other
consequences, that could significantly impair our ability to successfully commercialize a given product. If the FDA or a comparable regulatory authority becomes aware of
new safety information, it can impose additional restrictions on how the product is marketed or may seek to withdraw marketing approval altogether.
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There is no assurance that any of our product candidates that has received or will receive orphan drug designation will subsequently obtain orphan drug exclusivity, or
that any such exclusivity will provide the desired benefit.
Although we have obtained orphan drug designation for one use of RX-3117 and in the future may obtain additional orphan drug designation for RX-3117 or any of
our other product candidates, we are not assured of being awarded orphan drug exclusivity or realizing the benefits of such exclusivity, even if any of these products is
approved for its orphan-designated use. If another company also holding orphan drug designation for a product containing the same active moiety intended for the same rare
disease or condition receives approval before our orphan-designated product, approval of our product could be precluded for seven years because of that product’s orphan
drug exclusivity, unless we could demonstrate our product to be clinically superior to the earlier-approved product. Similarly, even if our orphan designated drug were
approved first and awarded seven-year orphan drug exclusivity, it would not block approval of the other product if that product were shown to be clinically superior, or if we
fail to assure a sufficient quantity of our orphan drug. Additionally, because orphan drug exclusivity is product- and indication-specific, it does not prevent approval of
another drug for the same orphan indication or the same drug for a different use.
If we fail to obtain regulatory approval in jurisdictions outside the United States, we will not be able to market our products in those jurisdictions.
We may seek regulatory approval for our product candidates in countries outside of the United States, such as China, and expect that these countries will be
important markets for our product candidates, if approved. Marketing our products in these countries will require separate regulatory approvals in each market and
compliance with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The regulations that apply to the conduct of clinical trials and approval procedures vary from country to
country and may require additional testing. Moreover, the time required to obtain approval in other jurisdictions may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. In
addition, in many countries outside the United States, a drug must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that country. Approval by the FDA
does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory
authorities in other foreign countries or by the FDA. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in
others. The foreign regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. We may not be able to file for regulatory approvals and
may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in any foreign market. If we are unable to obtain approval of any of our product candidates by regulatory
authorities in jurisdictions outside the United States, the commercial prospects of that product candidate may be diminished and our business prospects could be adversely
impacted.
The market opportunities for any current or future product candidate we develop, if approved, may be limited to those patients who are ineligible for established therapies
or for whom prior therapies have failed, and may be small.
Any revenue we are able to generate in the future from product sales will be dependent, in part, upon the size of the market in the United States and any other
jurisdiction for which we gain regulatory approval and have commercial rights. If the markets or patient subsets that we are targeting are not as significant as we estimate, we
may not generate significant revenues from sales of such products, even if approved.
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Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized as first-line, second-line, or third-line, and the FDA often approves new therapies initially only for third-line use.
When cancer is detected early enough, first-line therapy, usually chemotherapy, hormone therapy, surgery, radiation therapy or a combination of these, is sometimes adequate
to cure the cancer or prolong life without a cure. Second- and third-line therapies are administered to patients when prior therapy is not effective. We may initially seek
approval for other product candidates as therapies for patients who have received one or more prior treatments. If we do so, for those products that prove to be sufficiently
beneficial, if any, we would expect to seek approval potentially as a first-line therapy, but there is no guarantee that any product candidate we develop, even if approved,
would be approved for first-line therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, we may have to conduct additional clinical trials.
The number of patients who have the types of cancer we are targeting may turn out to be lower than expected. Additionally, the potentially addressable patient
population for our current or future product candidates may be limited, if and when approved. Even if we obtain significant market share for any product candidate, if and
when approved, if the potential target populations are small, we may never achieve profitability without obtaining marketing approval for additional indications, including to
be used as first- or second-line therapy.
If physicians and patients do not accept and use our drugs, our ability to generate revenue from sales of our products will be materially impaired.
Even if the FDA approves our product candidates, physicians and patients may not accept and use them. Future acceptance and use of our products will depend
upon a number of factors including, but not limited to:
•

awareness of a drug’s availability and benefits;

•

perceptions by members of the health care community, including physicians, about the safety and effectiveness of our drugs;

•

pharmacological benefit and cost-effectiveness of our products relative to competing products;

•

availability of reimbursement for our products from government or other third-party payors;

•

effectiveness of marketing and distribution efforts by us and our licensees and distributors, if any; and

•

the price at which we sell our products.

Because we expect sales of our current product candidates, if approved, to generate substantially all of our product revenues for the foreseeable future, the failure of
any of these drugs to find market acceptance would harm our business and could require us to seek additional financing.
Changes in healthcare law and implementing regulations, including those based on recently enacted and future legislation, as well as changes in healthcare policy, may
increase the difficulty and cost for us to commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.
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The United States and many foreign jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system that could prevent or
delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidate for which we
obtain marketing approval. The United States government, state legislatures and foreign governments also have shown significant interest in implementing cost-containment
programs to limit the growth of government-paid healthcare costs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products
for branded prescription drugs.
The Affordable Care Act substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers, and significantly impacted the
pharmaceutical industry. The Affordable Care Act is intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies
against healthcare fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on pharmaceutical and
medical device manufacturers, and impose additional health policy reforms.
The Affordable Care Act and certain of its provisions have been subject to judicial challenges, as well as efforts to repeal or replace them or to alter their
interpretation or implementation. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, enacted on December 22, 2017, eliminated the shared responsibility payment for individuals who
fail to maintain minimum essential coverage under section 5000A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly referred to as the individual mandate.
In addition, in December 2018, a United States District Court Judge for the Northern District of Texas ruled that the individual mandate is (i) unconstitutional as a
result of the associated tax penalty being repealed by Congress as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and (ii) not severable from the rest of the ACA, and that as a result the
entire ACA is invalid. On December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision that the individual mandate is
unconstitutional, but remanded the case to the district court to reconsider the severability question. It is unclear how the ultimate decision in this case, or other efforts to repeal,
replace, or invalidate the ACA or its implementing regulations, or portions thereof, will impact the ACA and implementation. Additional legislative changes, regulatory
changes and judicial challenges related to the Affordable Care Act remain possible. Any such changes could decrease the number of individuals with health coverage. It is
possible that the Affordable Care Act, as currently enacted or as it may be amended in the future, and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future
could have a material adverse effect on our industry generally and on our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, if approved.
In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. For example, recent legislative enactments have
resulted in Medicare payments to providers being subject to a reduction of, on average, two percent, referred to as sequestration, until 2029. Continuation of sequestration or
enactment of other reductions in Medicare reimbursement for drugs could affect our ability to achieve a profit on any candidate products that are approved for marketing.
The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability or
commercialize our products.
We depend on our information technology systems, and any failure of these systems could harm our business. Security breaches, loss of data, and other disruptions could
compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of our collaborators, our CROs and other third parties on which we rely,
are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. If such an event were to
occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our drug development programs and business operations. For example, the loss of
clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts for our product candidates and significantly
increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach was to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and the further development of our product candidates could be delayed or our
commercial operations could be impacted. Moreover, if a computer security breach affects our systems or results in the unauthorized release of personally identifiable
information, our reputation could be materially damaged. In addition, such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to
various federal and state privacy and security laws, if applicable.
If we fail to comply with data protection laws and regulations, we could be subject to government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties),
private litigation and/or adverse publicity, which could negatively affect our operating results and business.
We are subject to data protection laws and regulations (i.e., laws and regulations that address privacy and data security). In the U.S., numerous federal and state laws
and regulations, including state data breach notification laws, state health information and genetic privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws, including, for
example, Section 5 of the FTC Act and the CCPA, govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information. Failure to comply
with data protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions and create liability for us (which could include civil and/or criminal penalties),
private litigation and/or adverse publicity that could negatively affect our operating results and business. Many of these federal and state laws and regulations differ from each
other in significant ways, thus complicating compliance efforts. In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties, such as research institutions form which we
obtain clinical trial data, that are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA. Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA—other than potentially with
respect to providing certain employee benefits—we could be subject to criminal penalties if we, our affiliates or our agents knowingly obtain, use or disclose individually
identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. Among other things, HIPAA generally
requires that healthcare providers and other covered entities obtain written authorizations from patients prior to disclosing protected health information of the patient (unless
an exception to the authorization requirement applies). If authorization is required and the patient fails to execute an authorization or the authorization fails to contain all
required provisions, then we may not be allowed access to and use of the patient’s information and our research efforts could be impaired or delayed. Furthermore, use of
protected health information that is provided to us pursuant to a valid patient authorization is subject to the limits set forth in the authorization (e.g., for use in research and in
submissions to regulatory authorities for product approvals). In addition, HIPAA does not replace federal, state, foreign or other laws that may grant individuals even greater
privacy protections.
Our relationships with customers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, transparency and other healthcare laws and
regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens and diminished profits and
future earnings.
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Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we
obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare
laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our products for which we
obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:
•

the federal Anti-Kickback Law prohibits persons from, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing
remuneration (interpreted to include anything of value), directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, the referral of
an individual for the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing, or the purchase, lease or order, or arranging for or recommending purchase, lease or
order, any good or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and
Medicaid;

•

the federal civil False Claims Act imposes penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for,
among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment of government funds that are false or fraudulent or
making a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay money to the government or knowingly concealing or knowingly and
improperly avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

•

HIPAA imposes criminal liability for knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private
third party payers, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a health care benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal
investigation of a health care offense, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially
false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations or making or using any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any
materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry, in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services.
Similar to the federal healthcare Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to
violate it to have committed a violation;

•

HIPAA and its implementing regulations also impose obligations on certain covered entity health care providers, health plans and health care
clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or disclosure of individually identifiable health
information, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable
health information;

•

the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, which requires manufacturers of drugs, devices,
biologics, and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain
exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching
hospitals (and certain other practitioners beginning in 2022), as well as ownership and investment interests held in the company by physicians and
their immediate family members; and
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•

analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers;
state and foreign laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and
the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to certain healthcare
providers; state and foreign laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to clinical trials, or information related to payments
and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and foreign laws that govern the
privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not
preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It
is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental
regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion from government
funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, that person or entity may be subject to criminal, civil or
administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs. For a fuller discussion of the applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse,
transparency and other healthcare laws and regulations applicable to our business, see Item 1, “Description of Business – Government Regulation.”
We are subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations. We can face
serious consequences for violations.
Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations (“Trade Laws”)
prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors and other partners from authorizing,
promising, offering, providing, soliciting or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from recipients in the public or
private sector.
Our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction with public officials. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and
employees of government agencies or government-affiliated organizations, including outside of the United States. We have engaged or plan to engage third parties for
clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals and we can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal
activities of our personnel, agents or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. Our operations are subject to the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, which prohibits, among other things, U.S. companies and their employees and agents from authorizing, promising,
offering or providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to foreign government officials, employees of public international
organizations and foreign government-owned or affiliated entities, candidates for foreign political office, and foreign political parties or officials thereof. Recently, the
SEC and Department of Justice have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. There is no certainty
that all of our employees, agents, suppliers, manufacturers, contractors or collaborators, or those of our affiliates, will comply with all applicable laws and regulations,
particularly given the high level of complexity of these laws.
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Violations of Trade Laws could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or our employees, the closing down of facilities, including those of
our suppliers and manufacturers, requirements to obtain export licenses, cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries, implementation of compliance programs
and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Such violations could also result in prohibitions on our ability to offer our products in one or more countries as well as
difficulties in manufacturing or continuing to develop our products, and could materially damage our reputation, our brand, our international expansion efforts, our
ability to attract and retain employees, and our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.
Developments by competitors may render our products or technologies obsolete or non-competitive.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. We compete against fully
integrated pharmaceutical companies and smaller companies, including smaller companies that are or may be collaborating with larger pharmaceutical companies, as
well as academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations. Many of these competitors, either alone or together with their
collaborative partners, operate larger research and development programs or have substantially greater financial resources than we do, as well as more experience in:
•

developing drugs;

•

undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

•

obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of drugs;

•

formulating and manufacturing drugs; and

•

launching, marketing and selling drugs.

Large pharmaceutical companies currently sell both generic and proprietary compounds for the treatment of cancer. In addition, companies developing
oncology therapies represent substantial competition. Many of these organizations have substantially greater capital resources, larger research and development staff
and facilities, history in obtaining regulatory approvals and greater manufacturing and marketing capabilities than we do. These organizations also compete with us to
attract qualified personnel, parties for acquisitions, joint ventures or other collaborations.
There are currently marketed products and product candidates under development by our competitors that have similar mechanisms of action or target some of
the same indications as our clinical stage product candidates. If approved, RX-3117 could compete with other compounds with an anti-metabolite mechanism of action
in cancers, such as NUC-1031 (Acelarin), which is under development by Cunanan, and other approved nucleoside analogues such as capecitabine and gemcitabine. We
are not currently aware of known inhibitors of phosphorylated p68 that would compete with RX-5902 if RX-5902 were approved, but other drugs with a different
mechanism of action are approved or in development for the same indications, including AstraZeneca’s LYNPARZA (olaparib), Immunomedics’ sacituzumab govitecan
and various PD-1 inhibitors, including Genentech’s TECENTRIQ (atezolizumab), that are approved or in development for TNBC. If approved, RX-0301 could compete
with other Akt-1 inhibitors under development by other companies including Merck & Company, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, AstraZeneca, Gilead Sciences, MEI Pharma,
PIQUR Therapeutics and others.
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Our competitors may succeed in obtaining regulatory approval of their products more rapidly than we are able to, obtaining patent protection or other
intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates, or developing products that are more effective and/or safer than
ours, any of which could render our product candidates less competitive prior to recovery by us of expenses incurred with respect to their development and could lead us
to alter our business plans or development strategies. For example, in response to the changing treatment landscape for RCC, patients over the prior two years with the
approval of new therapies by the FDA, in February 2018, we announced plans to discontinue the internally funded programs of RX-0201 and ceased enrolling patients in
a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial of RX-0201 in patients with metastatic RCC.
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on specific product candidates, indications and development programs. As a result, we
may forgo or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates that could have had greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause
us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future product candidates for specific indications
may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may
relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through future collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements in cases in which it would have been more
advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate. If we are unable to manage our limited resources effectively, we
may not efficiently use these resources, which may delay the development of our product candidates and negatively impact our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
We may not be successful in obtaining the rights to product candidates to continue building our development pipeline, or these in-licenses may not be successful.
In addition to our own internally developed product candidates, we may seek opportunities to acquire or in-license compounds in oncology and other
therapeutic areas that are strategic additions to our current product pipeline, which entails additional risk to us. Identifying, selecting and acquiring promising product
candidates requires substantial technical, financial and human resources expertise. We may be unable to acquire or in-license any product candidates from third parties,
including because we are focusing on a specific area of care and we may be unable to identify product candidates that we believe are an appropriate strategic fit for our
company. In addition, efforts to do so may not result in the actual acquisition or license of a particular product candidate, potentially resulting in a diversion of our
management’s time and the expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit.
The in-licensing and acquisition of product candidates is a competitive area, and a number of more established companies are also pursuing strategies to inlicense or acquire product candidates that we may consider attractive. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, cash
resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. Furthermore, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or
license rights to us. We also may be unable to in-license or acquire the relevant product candidate on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our
investment.
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If we are unable to identify programs that ultimately result in approved products, we may spend material amounts of our capital and other resources evaluating,
acquiring and developing products that ultimately do not provide a return on our investment. Such additional product candidates could significantly increase our capital
requirements and place further strain on our limited resources, including on the time of our existing personnel, which may delay or otherwise adversely affect the
development of our existing product candidates.
We are dependent on our President and Chief Executive Officer and other key professionals and the loss of any of these individuals could harm our business.
We are dependent on the efforts of our President and Chief Executive Officer, Douglas J. Swirsky, and other key professionals. The loss of Mr. Swirsky, or our
inability to recruit and train additional key personnel in a timely manner, could materially and adversely affect our business and our prospects. All our employees,
including Mr. Swirsky, are employed “at-will,” and any of them may elect to pursue other opportunities at any time.
We may need to attract, train and retain additional experienced executives and other key professionals in the future.
In the future, we may need to attract, train and retain additional executives and other key professionals. There is a high demand for experienced executive,
scientific, manufacturing and quality personnel in our industry, and competition for such individuals is intense. We do not know whether we will be able to attract, train
and retain such experienced personnel to support our business activities and research and development activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
New or future changes to tax laws could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law new legislation that significantly revises the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The newly
enacted federal income tax law, among other things, contains significant changes to corporate taxation, including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal
rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income (except for certain small businesses), effective for
net operating losses incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of current year taxable
income and elimination of net operating loss carrybacks, immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and
modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the new federal tax
law is uncertain, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition, it is uncertain how various states will respond to the newly enacted
federal tax law. The impact of this tax reform on holders of our common stock is also uncertain and could be adverse.
We may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our products in response to product liability lawsuits.
The testing and marketing of medical products entail an inherent risk of product liability. Product liability claims may be brought against us by subjects
enrolled in our clinical trials, patients, healthcare providers or others using, administering or selling our products. Large judgments have been awarded in class action
lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial
liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our products. Our inability to obtain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against
potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of pharmaceutical products we develop, alone or with partners. Although we currently
carry clinical trial insurance and product liability insurance we, or any collaborators, may not be able to maintain such insurance at a reasonable cost. Even if our
agreements with any future collaborators entitle us to indemnification against losses, such indemnification may not be available or adequate should any claims arise.
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Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties
Much of our drug development program depends upon third parties, and if these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected
deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or commercialize, our product candidates, and our business could be substantially harmed.
We have engaged third-party CROs and other investigators and collaborators, such as universities, medical institutions and other life science companies, to
conduct our preclinical studies, toxicology studies and clinical trials, and to pursue development for our product candidates. For example, in February 2020, we entered
into the HaiChang License Agreement pursuant to which HaiChang agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop RX-0201 or RX-0301. The HaiChang
License Agreement replaced an earlier agreement under which HaiChang had agreed to develop RX-0301 and conduct certain preclinical and clinical activities through
completion of a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial in hepatic cell carcinoma in China. That trial has not yet occurred. Engaging third parties, or collaborating with
third parties, is typical practice in our industry. However, relying on such organizations means that the conduct of clinical trials and other studies, and the completion of
these trials and studies, is not within our direct control. Trials and studies may be delayed due to circumstances outside our control, and such delays may result in
additional expenses for us.
While we make efforts to oversee the work of third-party contractors, these collaborators are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under
our agreements with such third parties, we cannot control the effort, time or other resources that they devote to our programs. Third parties may not assign priority to our
programs or pursue them as diligently as we would if we were undertaking them ourselves. In addition, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical and
nonclinical studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol and legal, regulatory and scientific standards, such as cGCP and good laboratory practice,
and our reliance on collaborators and CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. If we or any of our collaborators or CROs fail to comply with
applicable cGCP, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to
perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such
regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials complies with cGCP requirements. Failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat
preclinical and clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process and our ability to generate and grow revenues.
If outside collaborators fail to devote sufficient time and resources to our drug-development programs, or if their performance is substandard, the approval of
our FDA applications and introduction of new drugs to the market may be delayed or unsuccessful. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects
for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed. For example, the success of the HaiChang
License Agreement depends on, among other things, the skills, experience and efforts of HaiChang, HaiChang’s commitment to the arrangement, and the financial
condition of HaiChang, all of which are beyond our control. In the event that HaiChang fails to successfully develop or commercialize any of the products licensed
under the HaiChang License Agreement, including due to early termination of the HaiChang agreement, our ability to obtain fees, milestone payments and royalties
would be adversely affected, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operation. Our collaborators may also have relationships with
other commercial entities, some of which may compete with us. If our collaborators assist our competitors at our expense, our competitive position would be harmed.
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If we lose our relationships with CROs, our drug development efforts could be delayed.
We rely on third-party vendors and CROs for preclinical studies and clinical trials related to our drug development efforts. Switching or adding additional CROs
involves additional cost, requires management time and focus and could result in substantial delays in our development programs. Our CROs have the right to terminate
their agreements with us in the event of an uncured material breach. In addition, some of our CROs have an ability to terminate their respective agreements with us if it
can be reasonably demonstrated that the safety of the subjects participating in our clinical trials warrants such termination, if we make a general assignment for the
benefit of our creditors, or if we are liquidated. Identifying, qualifying and managing the performance of third-party service providers can be difficult, time consuming
and cause delays in our development programs. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO commences work and the new CRO may not provide
the same type or level of services as the original provider. If any of our relationships with our third-party CROs terminates, we may not be able to enter into
arrangements with alternative CROs or do so on commercially reasonable terms.
We rely exclusively on third parties to formulate and manufacture our product candidates, which exposes us to a number of risks that may delay development,
regulatory approval and commercialization of our products or result in higher product costs.
We have no experience in drug formulation or manufacturing and we lack the resources and expertise to formulate or manufacture our own product candidates
internally. Therefore, we rely on third-party expertise to support us in this area. We have entered into contracts with third-party manufacturers to manufacture, supply,
store and distribute supplies of our product candidates for our clinical trials. If any of our product candidates receives FDA approval, we expect to rely on third-party
contractors to manufacture our drugs. We have no current plans to build internal manufacturing capacity for any product candidate, and we have no long-term supply
arrangements.
Our reliance on third-party manufacturers exposes us to potential risks, such as the following:
•

We may be unable to contract with third-party manufacturers on acceptable terms, or at all, because the number of potential manufacturers is limited.
Potential manufacturers of any product candidate that is approved will be subject to FDA compliance inspections and any new manufacturer would have to
be qualified to produce our products;

•

Our third-party manufacturers might be unable to formulate and manufacture our drugs in the volume and of the quality required to meet our clinical and
commercial needs, if any;

•

Our third-party manufacturers may not perform as agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business for the time required to supply our
clinical trials through completion or to successfully produce, store and distribute our commercial products, if approved;

•

Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and other government agencies to ensure compliance with cGMP
and other government regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We do not have direct control over third-party manufacturers’ compliance with these
regulations and standards, but we may ultimately be responsible for any of their failures;
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•

If any third-party manufacturer makes improvements in the manufacturing process for our products, we may not own, or may have to share, the intellectual
property rights to such improvements; and

•

A third-party manufacturer may gain knowledge from working with us that could be used to supply one of our competitors with a product that competes
with ours.

If our contract manufacturers or other third parties fail to deliver our product candidates for clinical investigation and, if approved, for commercial sale on a
timely basis, with sufficient quality, and at commercially reasonable prices, we may be required to delay or suspend development and commercialization of our product
candidates. For example, our clinical trials must be conducted with product that complies with cGMP. Failure to comply may require us to repeat or conduct additional
preclinical and/or clinical trials, which would increase our development costs and delay the regulatory approval process and our ability to generate and grow revenues.
In addition, any significant disruption in our supplier relationships could harm our business. We source key materials from third parties, either directly through
agreements with suppliers or indirectly through our manufacturers who have agreements with suppliers. There are a small number of suppliers for certain capital
equipment and key materials that are used to manufacture our product candidates. Such suppliers may not sell these key materials to our manufacturers at the times we
need them or on commercially reasonable terms. We do not have any control over the process or timing of the acquisition of these key materials by our manufacturers.
Moreover, we currently do not have agreements for the commercial production of a number of these key materials which are used in the manufacture of our product
candidates. Any significant delay in the supply of a product candidate or its key materials for an ongoing clinical study could considerably delay completion of our
clinical studies, product testing and potential regulatory approval of our product candidates. If our manufacturers or we are unable to purchase these key materials for
our product candidates after regulatory approval, the commercial launch of our product candidates could be delayed or there could be a shortage in supply, which would
impair our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our product candidates, if approved.
Each of these risks, if realized, could delay or have other adverse impacts on our clinical trials and the approval and commercialization of our product
candidates, potentially resulting in higher costs, reduced revenues or both.
We have no experience selling, marketing or distributing drug products and currently have no internal capability to do so.
We currently have no sales, marketing or distribution capabilities. While we intend to have a role in the commercialization of our product candidates, if
approved, we do not anticipate having the resources in the foreseeable future to develop global sales and marketing capabilities for all of our proposed products. Our
future success depends, in part, on our ability to enter into and maintain collaborative relationships with other companies that have sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities, a strategic interest in the products under development, and the ability to successfully market and sell our products. To the extent that we decide not to, or are
unable to, enter into collaborative arrangements with respect to the sales and marketing of our proposed products, significant capital expenditures, management resources
and time will be required to establish and develop an in-house marketing and sales force with the necessary expertise. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
establish or maintain relationships with third-party collaborators or develop in-house sales and distribution capabilities. To the extent that we depend on third parties for
marketing and distribution, any revenues we receive will depend upon the efforts of such third parties, as well as the terms of our agreements with such third parties,
which cannot be predicted at this early stage of our development. We cannot assure you that such efforts will be successful. In addition, we cannot assure you that we
will be able to market and sell our products in the United States or overseas.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or secure rights to patents of others, the value of our intellectual property rights would
diminish, and our business and competitive position would suffer.
Our success, competitive position and future revenues will depend in part on our ability and the abilities of our licensors and licensees to obtain and maintain
patent protection for our products, methods, processes and other technologies, to preserve our trade secrets, to prevent third parties from infringing on our proprietary
rights and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. We have an active patent protection program that includes filing patent applications on
new compounds, formulations, delivery systems and methods of making and using products and prosecuting these patent applications in the United States and abroad.
As patents issue, we also file continuation applications as appropriate. Although we have taken steps to build a strong patent portfolio, we cannot predict:
•

the degree and range of protection any patents will afford us against competitors, including whether third parties find ways to invalidate or otherwise
circumvent our licensed patents;

•

if and when patents will issue in the United States or any other country;

•

whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our licensed patents and patent applications;

•

whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings to protect our intellectual property rights, which may be costly whether we win or
lose;

•

whether any of our patents will be challenged by our competitors alleging invalidity or unenforceability and, if opposed or litigated, the outcome of any
administrative or court action as to patent validity, enforceability or scope;

•

whether a competitor will develop a similar compound that is outside the scope of protection afforded by a patent or whether the patent scope is inherent in
the claims modified due to interpretation of claim scope by a court;

•

whether there were activities previously undertaken by a licensor that could limit the scope, validity or enforceability of licensed patents and intellectual
property; or

•

whether a competitor will assert infringement of its patents or intellectual property, whether or not meritorious, and what the outcome of any related
litigation or challenge may be.
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Our success also depends upon the skills, knowledge and experience of our scientific and technical personnel, our consultants and advisors as well as our
licensors, sublicensees and contractors. To help protect our proprietary know-how and our inventions for which patents may be unobtainable or difficult to obtain, we
rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements. To this end, we require all employees to enter into agreements that prohibit the disclosure of confidential
information and, where applicable, require disclosure and assignment to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions important to our business. These
agreements may not provide adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure or
the lawful development by others of such information. If any of our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information is disclosed, the value of our trade secrets,
know-how and other proprietary rights would be significantly impaired, and our business and competitive position would suffer.
Due to legal and factual uncertainties regarding the scope and protection afforded by patents and other proprietary rights, we may not have meaningful protection
from competition.
Our long-term success will substantially depend upon our ability to protect our proprietary technologies from infringement, misappropriation, discovery and
duplication and avoid infringing the proprietary rights of others. Our patent rights, and the patent rights of biopharmaceutical companies in general, are highly uncertain
and include complex legal and factual issues. These uncertainties also mean that any patents that we own or may obtain in the future could be subject to challenge, and
even if not challenged, may not provide us with meaningful protection from competition. Patents already issued to us or our pending applications may become subject
to dispute, and any dispute could be resolved against us.
Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution
of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. Assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, prior to March 2013, in the United
States, the first to invent the claimed invention was entitled to the patent, while outside the United States, the first to file a patent application was entitled to the patent.
After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the “America Invents Act”), the United States transitioned to a first inventor to file system in which,
assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether
a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. The America Invents Act also includes a number of significant changes that affect the way patent applications
are prosecuted and also may affect patent litigation. These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”)
during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity or ownership of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant
review, inter partes review and derivation proceedings. The America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain. Recent rulings from the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit and the U.S. Supreme Court have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened
the rights of patent owners in certain situations. This combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the validity and enforceability of patents. Depending
on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that could
have a material adverse effect on our existing patent portfolio and our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property in the future.
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Filing, prosecuting and enforcing patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual
property rights in some countries outside the United States are and could remain less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of some foreign
countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may be less likely to be able to
prevent third parties from infringing our patents in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products that infringe our patents in and into the
United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products
and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These
products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries
limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could
materially diminish the value of such patent. If we or any of our licensors is forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our business,
our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.
If we infringe the rights of third parties, we could be prevented from selling products and be forced to defend against litigation and pay damages.
If our products, methods, processes and other technologies infringe the proprietary rights of other parties, we could incur substantial costs and may have to:
•

obtain licenses, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;

•

redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement;

•

stop using the subject matter claimed in patents held by others, which could cause us to lose the use of one or more of our product candidates;

•

pay damages; or

•

defend litigation or administrative proceedings that may be costly whether we win or lose and that could result in a substantial diversion of our management
resources.

Although we have not received any claims of infringement by any third parties to date, we expect that as our product candidates move further into clinical trials
and commercialization and our public profile is raised, we may be subject to such claims.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
An investment in shares of our common stock is very speculative and involves a very high degree of risk.
To date, we have generated no revenues from product sales and only minimal revenues from a research agreement with a minority stockholder and interest on
bank account balances and short-term investments. Our accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $163,322,676 and $154,687,242 respectively. For
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had net losses of $8,635,434 and $14,368,530, respectively, partially as a result of expenses incurred through a
combination of research and development activities related to the various technologies under our control and expenses supporting those activities. Until we receive
approval from the FDA and other regulatory authorities for our product candidates, we cannot sell our drugs and will not have product revenues.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to factors, some of which are beyond our control, such as:
•

the announcement of new products or product enhancements by us or our competitors;

•

changes in our relationships with our licensors or other strategic partners;

•

developments concerning intellectual property rights and regulatory approvals;

•

variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;

•

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

•

changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; and

•

developments and market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.

Further, the stock market, in general, and the market for biotechnology companies, in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations.
Continued market fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the price of our common stock, which may be unrelated or disproportionate to our operating
performance and which could cause a decline in the value of our common stock. You should also be aware that price volatility might be worse if the trading volume of
our common stock is low.
We will require additional capital funding the receipt of which may impair the value of our common stock.
Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including our research, development, sales and marketing activities. We will need to raise additional
capital through public or private equity or debt offerings or through arrangements with strategic partners or other sources in order to continue to develop our product
candidates. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be available when needed or on terms satisfactory to us, if at all. To the extent we raise additional
capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience substantial dilution and the new equity securities may have greater rights, preferences or privileges
than our existing common stock.
We have not paid dividends to our stockholders in the past, and we do not anticipate paying dividends to our stockholders in the foreseeable future.
We have not declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all future earnings, if any, to fund the continuing operation of
our business, and therefore we do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, you will not realize any income from an
investment in our common stock until and unless you sell your shares at a profit.
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We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile, and in the past companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been
subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs
and direct our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.
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Item 1B.
Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2.
Description of Property.
Our corporate headquarters are currently located in Rockville, Maryland and consist of approximately 5,466 square feet of leased office space under a lease that
expires in June 2024. We believe that these facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or substitute space will be available in the future if
needed.
Item 3.
Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may become engaged in litigation or other legal proceedings as part of our ordinary course of business. We are not currently party to any
litigation or legal proceedings that, in the opinion of management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business.
Item 4.
Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on Nasdaq Capital Market, under the ticker symbol “REXN”. As of February 21, 2020, there were approximately 22 stockholders
of record of our common stock.
Item 6.
Selected Financial Data.
Not required.
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Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity in conjunction with our financial statements and the
related notes, which are included in this Annual Report. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report,
including information with respect to our plans and strategies for our business, statements regarding the industry outlook, our expectations regarding the future
performance of our business, and the other non-historical statements contained herein are forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding
Forward‑Looking Statements.” You should also review the “Risk Factors” section under this Item 1A of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described herein or implied by such forward-looking statements.
OVERVIEW
We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company developing innovative therapies to improve patient outcomes in cancers that are difficult to treat. Our
pipeline features two clinical-stage product candidates and additional compounds in preclinical development.
We have no product sales to date, and our major sources of working capital have been proceeds from various private and public financings and licensing and
collaboration agreements with our partners. In September 2019, we commenced a process to explore and evaluate strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value,
and have engaged Oppenheimer and Co. Inc. as our financial advisor to assist us in this process. Potential strategic alternatives include an acquisition, merger, reverse
merger, other business combination, sales of assets, licensing, or other strategic alternatives. In connection with the evaluation of strategic alternatives, we are evaluating
opportunities to extend our resources and have reduced our headcount to five employees.
Critical Accounting Policies
A “critical accounting policy” is one which is both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and requires our management’s most
difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our accounting
policies are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and their basis of application is consistent with that of the previous year. Our significant
estimates include assumptions made in estimating the fair values of stock-based compensation, warrant liabilities, marketable securities and our assessment relating to
costs incurred on research and development contracts.
Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist primarily of third-party service costs under research
and development agreements, salaries and related personnel costs, as well as stock-based compensation related to these costs, costs to acquire pharmaceutical products
and product rights for development and amounts paid to CROs, hospitals and laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and clinical
trials.
Costs incurred in obtaining the license rights to technology in the research and development stage that have no alternative future uses and are for unapproved
product compounds are expensed as incurred.
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We are required to estimate our accrued expenses. This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to
identify services performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred when we have not yet been invoiced or
otherwise notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed or when contractual milestones are met.
We estimate our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. Examples of
estimated accrued research and development expenses include fees paid to:
•

CROs and investigative sites in connection with clinical studies;

•

vendors in connection with product manufacturing, development, and distribution of clinical supplies; and

•

vendors in connection with preclinical development activities.

We record expenses related to clinical studies and manufacturing development activities based on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended
pursuant to contracts with multiple CROs and manufacturing vendors. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract
and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a
prepayment of the expense. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of subjects and the completion of clinical trial
milestones. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed, enrollment of subjects, number of sites activated and the level
of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrued or
prepaid expense balance accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status
and timing of services performed differ from the actual status and timing of services performed, we may report amounts that are too high or too low in any particular
period. To date, there have been no material differences from our estimates to the amounts actually incurred.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements for cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate
fair value because of the short‑term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value methodology for our warrant liabilities and marketable securities is described
in detail in Item 8 of this Annual Report.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, “Income Taxes.” For additional information on our income
tax accounting, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to the Financial Statements in this Annual Report.
Warrants
We record warrants as either equity instruments or liabilities at fair value in accordance with ASC 480, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” (“ASC 480”)
or ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”), as discussed further in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Financial
Statements in this Annual Report. We reevaluate the balance sheet classification of our warrants and the fair value of our liability-classified warrants each reporting
period, and changes in the fair value of our warrant liabilities between reporting periods is recorded as “unrealized gain (loss) on fair value of warrants” in the statement
of operations.
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Stock-Based Compensation
In accordance with ASC 718, “Stock Compensation,” compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, including employee stock options,
are recognized in the financial statements, as discussed further in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 11, “Stock-Based Compensation,” in
the Notes to Financial Statements in this Annual Report. We estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model. As required, we review
our valuation assumptions at each grant date and, as a result, we may change our valuation assumptions used to value employee stock-based awards granted in future
periods. Employee and director stock-based compensation costs are recognized over the vesting period of the award.
Concentration of Credit Risk
ASC 825, “Financial Instruments,” requires disclosure of any significant off‑balance sheet risk and credit risk concentration. See Note 2, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Financial Statements in this Annual Report.
For more information on our critical accounting policies, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Financial Statements in
this Annual Report.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to the Financial Statements,” in this Annual Report for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Total Revenues
We had no revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance and other administrative personnel, recruitment
expenses, professional fees and other corporate expenses, including business development, investor relations, and general legal activities.
General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $1,691,000, or 22.8%, to $5,738,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $7,429,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower personnel and operating costs resulting from the streamlining of operations.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses decreased approximately $7,632,000, or 58.2%, to $5,477,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, from $13,109,000
for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decreases are a result of the completion of the enrollment of our RX-3117 and RX-5902 clinical trials, decreased drug
manufacturing costs as we have adequate supply, the elimination of certain preclinical activities, and headcount reductions.
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The table below summarizes the approximate amounts incurred on each of our research and development projects for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
Clinical Candidates:
RX-3117
RX-5902
RX-0201

$

Preclinical, Personnel and Overhead

3,088,900
887,200
175,600

$

1,325,076

Total Research and Development Expenses

$

5,476,776

6,126,200
3,104,400
651,200
3,227,258

$

13,109,058

We expect total research and development expenses and research and development expense for each of our research and development projects to decrease in
2020 as we progress toward the completion of our Phase 2a clinical trial of RX-3117 with Abraxane, evaluate the development strategy for RX-5902, and explore and
evaluate strategic alternatives.
Interest Income
Interest income increased approximately $59,000, or 23.3% to $314,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $254,000 for the year ended December
31, 2018. The increase is primarily attributable to higher interest rates on cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018.
Other Income
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded approximately $369,000 of other income related to the termination of our collaborative agreement with
Next BT. See Note 7, “Collaboration and License Agreements,” in the Notes to Financial Statements in this Annual Report for a discussion of the termination of this
agreement.
Unrealized Gain on Fair Value of Warrants
Our warrants that are classified as liabilities are recorded at fair value using a lattice model. Changes in the fair value of liability-classified warrants are
recorded as unrealized gains or losses in our statement of operations. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recorded unrealized gains on the fair
value of warrants of approximately $2,266,000 and $5,546,000 respectively. Estimating fair values of warrants requires the development of significant and subjective
estimates that may, and are likely to, change over the duration of the warrants due to related changes to external market factors. The unrealized gains for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 primarily resulted from a significant decrease in the stock price of the underlying common stock at the end of each period as
compared to the beginning of each period.
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Net Loss
As a result of the above, net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased approximately $5,733,000 or 39.9%, to $8,635,000 ($2.18 per share) from
$14,369,000 ($5.25 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Current and Future Financing Needs
We have incurred negative cash flow from operations since we started our business. We expect to continue to incur negative cash flow and operating losses as
we explore strategic alternatives. We have spent, and subject to our exploration of strategic alternatives, expect to continue to spend, substantial amounts in connection
with implementing our business strategy, including our planned product development efforts, our clinical trials and our research and development efforts. Subject to the
result of our exploration of strategic alternatives, we will need to raise additional capital through public or private equity or debt offerings or through arrangements with
strategic partners or other sources in order to continue to develop our drug candidates. In conjunction with our exploration of strategic alternatives, we are exploring
opportunities to extend our resources. We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of approximately $12.2 million as of December 31, 2019
will be sufficient to cover our cash flow requirements for our current activities for at least the next 12 months following the issuance of the financial statements
contained in this Annual Report. However, our resource requirements could materially change to the extent we identify and enter into any strategic transaction.
Cash Flows
The table below summarizes our net cash flow activity:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$ (10,277,133) $
(18,838,638)
3,098,551
11,910,996
7,653,828
6,772,789
$
475,246 $
(154,853 )

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash used in operating activities was approximately $10,277,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The operating cash flows during the year ended
December 31, 2019 reflect a net loss of approximately $8,635,000, an unrealized gain on the fair value of warrants of approximately $2,266,000, and a net increase of
cash components of working capital and non-cash charges totaling $624,000. Cash used in operating activities was approximately $18,839,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The operating cash flows during the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect a net loss of $14,369,000, an unrealized gain on the fair value of
warrants of $5,546,000, and a net increase of cash components of working capital and non-cash charges totaling $1,076,000.
Cash provided by investing activities was approximately $3,099,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which consisted of $12,000,000 from the
redemption of marketable securities, and approximately $6,000 from the sale of equipment, offset by approximately $8,888,000 and approximately $19,000 from the
purchases of marketable securities and equipment, respectively. Cash provided by investing activities was approximately $11,911,000 for the year ended December 31,
2018, which consisted of $11,950,000 from the redemption of marketable securities, offset by $39,000 from the purchase of equipment.
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Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $7,654,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 which consisted of net proceeds from our
underwritten offering in January 2019. Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $6,773,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, which consisted of
net proceeds of $6,873,000 from our registered direct public offering offset by $100,000 in deferred offering costs for our January 2019 underwritten public offering.
Financings
On October 19, 2018, we closed a registered direct public offering of 480,770 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 480,771 shares of
common stock. The common stock and warrants were sold in units at a price of $15.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $7,500,000.
On January 25, 2019, we closed an underwritten public offering of 895,834 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 895,886 shares of common
stock. The common stock and warrants were sold in units at a price of $9.60 per unit, for gross proceeds of $8,600,000.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or holdings in variable interest entities.
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Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not required.
Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Our financial statements and the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon filed pursuant to this Item 8 and are included in this
Annual Report beginning on page F-1.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report were effective such that the information required
to be disclosed by us in reports filed under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding disclosure. A controls system cannot provide absolute assurance, however, that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. During the most recent quarter ended December 31, 2019, there has been no change in our internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures
that:
•

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and the dispositions of our
assets;

•

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorization of
our management and the board of directors; and

•

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluations of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or because of declines in the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. In making this assessment, our management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).
Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
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Item 9B.

Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our 2020 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2019 and is
incorporated into this Annual Report by reference.
Item 11.
Executive Compensation.
The information required by this Item will be set forth in our 2020 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2019 and is
incorporated into this Annual Report by reference.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our 2020 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2019 and is
incorporated into this Annual Report by reference.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions; and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our 2020 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2019 and is
incorporated into this Annual Report by reference.
Item 14.
Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this Item will be set forth in our 2020 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2019 and is
incorporated into this Annual Report by reference.
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Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report:
(1) The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report:
Report of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP

F-1

Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018

F-2

Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

F-3

Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

F-4

Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

F-5

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

F-6

Notes to the Financial Statements

F-7

(2) All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or not required or because the information is included
elsewhere in the financial statements or the Notes thereto.
(3) See the accompanying Index to Exhibits filed as a part of this Annual Report, which list is incorporated by reference in this Item.
(b) See the accompanying Index to Exhibits filed as a part of this Annual Report.
(c) Other schedules are not applicable.
Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed as Appendix G to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on
April 29, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference.

3.2

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K, filed on May 5, 2017, is incorporated herein by reference.

3.3

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K, filed on August 30, 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

3.4

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K, filed on April 12, 2019, is incorporated herein by reference.

3.5

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended, through March 21, 2014, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2013, is incorporated herein by reference.

4.1

Specimen Certificate for the Company’s Common Stock, par value $.0001 per share, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 (File No. 333-129294) filed on October 28, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference.

4.2

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2015, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.3

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 26, 2016, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.4

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2016, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.5

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 7, 2017, is incorporated
herein by reference.

4.6

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 13, 2017, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.7

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 19, 2018, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.8

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 25, 2019, is
incorporated herein by reference.

4.9

Description of Common Stock.

*10.1

Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock Option Plan, as amended, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No.
333-129294) filed on October 28, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.2

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement for Employees, filed as Exhibit 4.5.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333129294) filed on October 28, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference.
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*10.3

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement for Non-Employee Directors and Consultants, filed as Exhibit 4.5.2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-129294) filed on October 28, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.4

Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2013 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on June 10, 2016, is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.5

First Amendment to the Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2013 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated as of June 9, 2016, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 13, 2017, is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.6

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement under the Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2013 Stock Option Plan filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.7

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2013 Stock Option Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.8

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2018, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Douglas Swirsky, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 4, 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.9

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2018, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Douglas Swirsky, filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16, 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

10.10

Lease Agreement, dated June 5, 2009, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and The Realty Associates Fund V, L.P., filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009, is incorporated herein by reference.

10.11

First Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2013, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC, filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013, is incorporated herein by reference.

10.12

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2014, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2014, is incorporated herein by
reference.

10.13

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2015, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC, filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015, is incorporated herein by reference.

10.14

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2016, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, is incorporated herein by
reference.
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10.15

Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2017, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC, filed
as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017, is incorporated herein by reference.

10.16

Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2019, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SG Plaza Holdings, LLC,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2019, is incorporated herein by
reference.

10.17

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2015, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers identified
on the signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2015, is incorporated
herein by reference.

10.18

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2016, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers identified
on the signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 26, 2016, is incorporated
herein by reference.

10.19

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2016, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers
identified on the signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2016, is
incorporated herein by reference.

10.20

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2017, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers identified on the
signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 7, 2017, is incorporated herein by
reference.

10.21

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2017, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers identified
on the signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 13, 2017, is incorporated herein
by reference.

10.22

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2018, by and between Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the purchasers identified
on the signature pages thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 19, 2018, is incorporated herein
by reference.

**10.23

Clinical Trial Collaboration and Supply Agreement, dated August 13, 2018, by and between Merck Sharp & Dohme B.V., and Rexahn
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018, is
herein incorporated by reference.

**10.24

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2019, between BioSense Global, LLC and Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2019, is herein incorporated by reference.

10.25

Amendment No. 1 to Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2019, between BioSense Global LLC and Rexahn
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 29, 2019 is herein incorporated by
reference.
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23.1

Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

24.1

Power of Attorney

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101

The following materials from Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language
(“XBRL”): (i) Balance Sheet; (ii) Statement of Operations; (iii) Statement of Comprehensive Loss; (iv) Statement of Stockholders’ Equity; (v)
Statement of Cash Flows; and (vi) Notes to the Financial Statements

*Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
**Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in compliance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: /s/ Douglas J. Swirsky
Douglas J. Swirsky
Chief Executive Officer and President
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Douglas J. Swirsky
Douglas J. Swirsky

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director (Principal Executive, Financial and
Accounting Officer)

February 21, 2020

/s/ Peter Brandt*
Peter Brandt

Chairman

February 21, 2020

/s/ Charles Beever*
Charles Beever

Director

February 21, 2020

/s/ Kwang Soo Cheong*
Kwang Soo Cheong

Director

February 21, 2020

/s/ Ben Gil Price*
Ben Gil Price

Director

February 21, 2020

/s/ Richard J. Rodgers*
Richard J. Rodgers

Director

February 21, 2020

/s/ Lara Sullivan*
Lara Sullivan

Director

February 21, 2020

* By: /s/ Douglas J. Swirsky, Attorney-in Fact
Douglas J. Swirsky, Attorney-in-Fact**
** By authority of the power of attorney filed as Exhibit 24.1 hereto
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the board of directors of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows, for the years then ended and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
We are uncertain as to the year we (or our predecessor firms) began serving consecutively as the auditor of the Company’s financial statements; however, we are aware
that we (or our predecessor firms) have been the Company’s auditor consecutively since at least 2003.
Lancaster, Pennsylvania
February 21, 2020
F-1

Table of Contents

REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

$

9,219,547
2,997,220
447,206
12,663,973
25,681
203,348
75,770
12,968,772

$

1,265,731
1,500,000
139,765
2,905,496
63,605
41,717
3,010,818

$

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current Assets
Security Deposits
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Equipment, Net
Total Assets

$

$

8,744,301
5,981,520
1,173,847
15,899,668
30,785
112,473
16,042,926

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liabilities, current
Total Current Liabilities
Operating Lease Liabilities, non-current
Warrant Liabilities
Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (note 14)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001, 10,000,000 authorized shares, none issued and outstanding
Common stock, par value $0.0001, 75,000,000 authorized shares, 4,019,141 and 3,122,843 issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit

$

402
173,278,144
2,084
(163,322,676)

312
165,267,656
(17,836)
(154,687,242)

9,957,954

Total Stockholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

$
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)
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12,968,772

3,152,550
3,152,550
2,307,586
19,900
5,480,036

10,562,890
$

16,042,926
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Statement of Operations
For the Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
- $
-

Revenues:
Expenses:
General and administrative
Research and development
Total Expenses
Loss from Operations
Other Income
Interest income
Other income
Unrealized gain on fair value of warrants
Total Other Income
Net Loss Before Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Loss
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding, basic and diluted

5,738,227
5,476,776

7,428,615
13,109,058

11,215,003

20,537,673

(11,215,003)

(20,537,673)

313,700
2,265,869
2,579,569

254,344
368,750
5,546,049
6,169,143

$

(8,635,434)
(8,635,434) $

(14,368,530)
(14,368,530)

$

(2.18) $

(5.25)

3,960,163

(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the Years Ended December 31,
2019
2018
Net Loss

$

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities

(8,635,434) $
19,920

Comprehensive Loss

$
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)
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(8,615,514) $

(14,368,530)
39,050
(14,329,480)
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Common Stock

Balances at January 1, 2018
Issuance of common stock and units, net of
issuance costs
Common stock issued in exchange for services
Common stock issued from vested restricted
stock units
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income
Balances at December 31, 2018
Issuance of common stock and units, net of
issuance costs
Common stock issued from vested restricted
stock units
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income
Balances at December 31, 2019

264

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 157,143,930

480,770
1,250

48
-

6,872,741
22,650

1,504
3,122,843

312

1,228,335
165,267,656

Number of
Shares
2,639,319

Amount
$

$

$

895,834

90

7,553,738

464
4,019,141

402

456,750
173,278,144

$

$

(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)
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Accumulated
Other
Total
Accumulated
Comprehensive
Stockholders’
Deficit
Income (Loss)
Equity
$ (140,318,712) $
(56,886) $
16,768,596
-

$

(14,368,530)
(154,687,242) $
-

$

(8,635,434)
(163,322,676) $

-

6,872,789
22,650

39,050
(17,836) $
19,920
2,084

1,228,335
(14,368,530)
39,050
10,562,890
7,553,828

$

456,750
(8,635,434)
19,920
9,957,954
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Compensatory stock
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on sale of equipment
Amortization of premiums and discounts on marketable securities, net
Stock-based compensation
Amortization and termination of deferred research and development arrangement
Unrealized gain on fair value of warrants
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Other, net
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of equipment
Sale of equipment
Purchase of marketable securities
Redemption of marketable securities
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Issuance of common stock and units, net of issuance costs
Payment of deferred offering costs
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents – beginning of period
Cash and Cash Equivalents - end of period
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Operating cash flows paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Warrants issued
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)
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$

(8,635,434)

$

(14,368,530)

40,992
9,594
(108,214 )
456,750
(2,265,869)

22,650
48,211
39,251
1,228,335
(375,000 )
(5,546,049)

608,143
(1,886,819)
1,500,000
3,724
(10,277,133)

230,694
(81,376)
(36,824)
(18,838,638)

(19,383)
5,500
(8,887,566)
12,000,000
3,098,551

(39,224)
11,950,220
11,910,996

$

7,653,828
7,653,828
475,246
8,744,301
9,219,547

$

6,872,789
(100,000 )
6,772,789
(154,853 )
8,899,154
8,744,301

$

197,224

$

-

$
$

4,735,913
380,935

$
$

4,841,830
-
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
1.

Operations and Organization
Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, is a biopharmaceutical company whose principal operations are the development of
innovative treatments for cancer. The Company had an accumulated deficit of $163,322,676 at December 31, 2019 and anticipates incurring losses in the foreseeable
future. In September 2019, the Company commenced a process to explore and evaluate strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value and engaged a financial
advisory firm to assist in the process.
The Company believes that its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of approximately $12.2 million as of December 31, 2019 will be sufficient to cover its
cash flow requirements for its current activities for at least the next 12 months from the date these financial statements were issued.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions the Company may undertake in the future. Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. These estimates are
reviewed periodically and as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they become available.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short‑term investments purchased with remaining maturities of three months or less at acquisition.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities are considered “available-for-sale” in accordance with Financial Statement Accounting Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 320, “Debt and Equity Securities,” and thus are reported at fair value in the Company’s accompanying balance sheet, with unrealized gains and losses
excluded from earnings and reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss into realized
gains and losses are accounted for on the basis of specific identification and are included in other income or expense in the statement of operations. The Company
classifies such investments as current on the balance sheet as the investments are readily marketable and available for use in the Company’s current operations.
F-7
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REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
Equipment
Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation, based on the lesser of the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, is
provided as follows:
Life
7 years
5 years
5-7 years
3-5 years
3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Laboratory equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Depreciation Method
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line
straight line

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements for cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair
value because of the short‑term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of warrant liabilities is discussed in Note 12, and the fair value of marketable
securities and certain other assets and liabilities is discussed in Note 16.
Warrants
The Company classifies its stock warrants as either liability or equity instruments in accordance with ASC 480, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” (ASC 480),
depending on the specific terms of the warrant agreement. Warrants that the Company may be required to redeem through payment of cash or other assets outside its
control are classified as liabilities pursuant to ASC 480 and are initially and subsequently measured at their estimated fair values. Stock warrants are also classified as
warrant liabilities in accordance with ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815) if the warrant contains terms that could require “net cash settlement” and
therefore, do not meet the conditions necessary for equity classification according to ASC 815. Warrant instruments that could require “net cash settlement” in the
absence of express language precluding such settlement are initially classified as warrant liabilities at their estimated fair values, regardless of the likelihood that such
instruments will ever be settled in cash. The Company will continue to record liability-classified warrants at fair value until the warrants are exercised, expire or are
amended in a way that would no longer require these warrants to be classified as a liability. For additional discussion on warrants, see Note 12.
Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist primarily of third-party service costs under research and
development agreements, salaries and related personnel costs, including stock-based compensation, costs to acquire pharmaceutical products and product rights for
development and amounts paid to contract research organizations, hospitals and laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and
clinical trials.
Costs incurred in obtaining the licensing rights to technology in the research and development stage that have no alternative future uses and are for unapproved
product compounds are expensed as incurred.
F-8

Table of Contents

REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of the assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates. ASC
740 requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more likely than not that all portions of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. A review of all
positive and negative evidence needs to be considered, including a company’s current and past performance, the market environment in which the company operates,
length of carryback and carryforward periods and existing contracts that will result in future profits. Income tax expense is recorded for the amount of income tax
payable or refundable for the period, increased or decreased by the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period.
As a result of the Company’s significant cumulative losses, the Company determined that it was appropriate to establish a valuation allowance for the full amount of
net deferred tax assets.
The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves the inherent uncertainty associated with the application of complex tax laws. The Company is subject to
examination by various taxing authorities. The Company believes that, as a result of its loss carryforward sustained to date, any examination would result in a
reduction of its net operating losses rather than a tax liability. As such, the Company has not provided for any additional taxes that would be estimated under ASC
740.
Stock-Based Compensation
In accordance with ASC 718, “Stock Compensation,” compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, including employee stock options, are to be
recognized in the financial statements. In addition, the Company adheres to the guidance set forth within U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107, which provides the Staff’s views regarding the interaction between ASC 718 and certain SEC rules and regulations, and
provides interpretations with respect to the valuation of share-based payments for public companies. For additional discussion on stock-based compensation, see Note
11.
Concentration of Credit Risk
ASC 825, “Financial Instruments,” requires disclosure of any significant off balance sheet risk and credit risk concentration. The Company does not have significant
off‑balance sheet risk or credit concentration. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions. From time to time the Company
has funds on deposit with commercial banks that exceed federally insured limits. The balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to
$250,000. At December 31, 2019, the Company’s uninsured cash balance was $ 8,969,547. Management does not consider this to be a significant credit risk as the
banks are large, established financial institutions.
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Reclassification
Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation with no material impact on the financial
statements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Affecting the Company
Leases
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”).
ASU 2016-02 requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under previous U.S. GAAP. ASU
2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted the standard on
January 1, 2019. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which among other
things, allows carryforward of the historical lease classification. The Company did not elect the hindsight practical expedient. The Company made an accounting
policy election to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off the balance sheet. The Company recognizes those lease payments in the consolidated
statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Adoption of this standard resulted in recognition of additional net right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, both of which were not quantitatively material to the
Company’s financial statements, and there was no impact to the Company’s accumulated deficit. Adoption of this standard did not have a notable impact on the
Company’s liquidity.
See Note 8 for additional discussion on the Company’s leases and the adoption of ASU 2016-02.
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3.

Marketable Securities
The following table shows the Company’s marketable securities’ adjusted cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair value by significant investment category as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Commercial Paper
Corporate Bonds
Total Marketable Securities

Corporate Bonds

$
$

$

Cost
Basis
1,996,216
998,920
2,995,136

Cost
Basis
5,999,356

December 31, 2019
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
$
1,184 $
900
$
2,084 $

$

$

Fair
Value
1,997,400
999,820
2,997,220

December 31, 2018
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
- $
(17,836) $

Fair
Value
5,981,520

-

$

The Company typically invests in highly rated securities, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. As of December 31, 2019, all of
the Company’s marketable securities are due to mature in less than one year.
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4.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
December 31,
2019
Deposits on contracts
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

December 31,
2018

$

447,206

$

618,417
555,430

$

447,206

$

1,173,847

Deposits on contracts consist of deposits on research and development contracts for services that had not been incurred as of the balance sheet date. Prepaid expenses
and other assets include prepaid general and administrative expenses not yet incurred as of the balance sheet date.
5.

Equipment, Net
December 31,
2019
Furniture and fixtures
Office and computer equipment
Laboratory equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

67,650
163,440
116,403

Total equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

December 31,
2018
$

347,493
(271,723 )

Net carrying amount

$

75,770

82,686
159,489
447,653
131,762
821,590
(709,117 )

$

112,473

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold its laboratory equipment prior to terminating its laboratory lease. The Company recorded a loss of
$9,594 on the sale, which is included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s statement of operations.
6.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
December 31,
2019
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued research and development contract costs
Payroll liabilities

F-12

December 31,
2018

$

488,285
471,700
221,170
84,576

$

547,519
140,637
1,782,131
682,263

$

1,265,731

$

3,152,550
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7.

Collaboration and License Agreements
BioSense Global LLC
On February 25, 2019, the Company entered into a collaboration and license agreement (as amended, the “Collaboration and License Agreement”) with BioSense
Global LLC (“BioSense”) to advance the development and commercialization of RX-3117 for pancreatic and other cancers in the Republic of Singapore, China, Hong
Kong, Macau, and Taiwan (the “Territory”). Under the terms of the Collaboration and License Agreement, the Company will grant BioSense an exclusive license to
develop and commercialize pharmaceutical products containing RX-3117 as a single agent for the prevention or treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer and other
forms of cancer in the Territory that is effective upon payment in full of an upfront payment. The upfront payment consists of an aggregate of $3,000,000. Under the
Collaboration and License Agreement, the Company is also eligible to receive milestone payments (i) in an aggregate of up to $126,000,000 for the achievement of
development and regulatory goals in China and (ii) in an aggregate of up to $100,000,000 for the achievement of annual sales goals in the Territory with respect to each
pharmaceutical product containing RX-3117 as a single agent. The Company will also be eligible to receive tiered royalties in the low double digits to mid-teens on
annual net sales in the Territory.
The Company has evaluated the Collaboration and License Agreement under ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” to determine the appropriate
amount of revenue to be recognized as the Company fulfills its obligations under the Collaboration and License Agreement. The Company identified the exclusive
license to develop RX-3117 and the supply of RX-3117 clinical material for clinical trials as the distinct performance obligations in the contract. The Company has
determined that it will recognize revenue related to the exclusive license to develop RX-3117 and the supply of RX-3117 clinical material transfers to BioSense at a
point in time when the exclusive license is conveyed and RX-3117 clinical material is delivered to BioSense, respectively.
The Company has determined the transaction price contains both fixed and variable consideration. The fixed consideration is equal to the upfront payment of
$3,000,000. The variable consideration relates to the milestone payments and future sales-based royalty payments. The Company estimates the variable consideration
in the contract using the most likely amount method. The Company determined at the contract outset and as of December 31, 2019 that all milestone payments should
be fully constrained, as it is not probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur in a future period, given the significance of the milestone payments and
that the payments are earned based upon the achievement of events that are highly susceptible to factors outside of the Company’s control. Future sales-based royalties
related to the exclusive license to develop RX-3117 will be recognized in the period the underlying sales transaction occurs.
The $3,000,000 upfront payment has been allocated to the performance obligations on the basis of the relative standalone selling price estimated for each performance
obligation. The Company has determined the standalone selling price of the exclusive license to develop RX-3117 using the adjusted market approach, which
represents the price the market will bear based on the license rights granted and the state of the intellectual property, and has determined the standalone selling price of
the supply of RX-3117 clinical material using a cost plus a margin approach. Accordingly, the Company has allocated $2,500,000 of the upfront transaction price to
the exclusive license to develop RX-3117 and $500,000 to the supply of RX-3117 clinical material. Additional transaction price recognized in future periods related to
milestone payments and royalties will be allocated solely to the exclusive license to develop RX-3117, as these amounts relate to efforts associated with the
development and commercialization of products related to the exclusive license to develop RX-3117.
F-13
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As of December 31, 2019, $1,500,000 of the upfront payment had been paid, and the remaining $1,500,000 which was due on September 23, 2019 remained unpaid.
The Company has not terminated the Collaboration and License Agreement nor amended its performance obligations. As neither performance obligation has been
satisfied as of December 31, 2019, no revenue has been recognized for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company has recorded the $1,500,000 of transaction
consideration received as of December 31, 2019 as deferred revenue on the Company’s balance sheet.
Zhejiang HaiChang Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
On February 8, 2018, the Company entered into a research and development collaboration agreement withZhejiang HaiChang Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (“HaiChang”)
under which HaiChang agreed to develop RX-0301, a nano-liposomal formulation of RX-0201, using its proprietary QTsome™ technology and to conduct certain
preclinical and clinical activities through completion of a Phase 2a proof-of-concept clinical trial in hepatocellular carcinoma in China.
The Company accounts for this contract under ASC 606. The Company has determined the sole performance obligation under the contract with HaiChang relates to
the license of intellectual property in exchange for variable, non-cash consideration in the form of the rights to the enhanced intellectual property developed by
HaiChang under the contract. Revenue associated with this license is recognized at a point in time. At the outset of the contract, the value of the license was
determined to be de minimis given the early stage of clinical development of the intellectual property. Because the consideration in the contract varies based upon the
success of the research and development efforts of HaiChang, the Company has determined that the non-cash consideration in the contract represents variable
consideration. The Company estimates variable consideration under the contract using the expected value method. Given the early stage and the uncertain success of
the development work to be performed by HaiChang, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has determined that the variable consideration in the contract
should be fully constrained at the contract outset and as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company has not recorded revenue for this contract for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018.
As further described in Note 16, on February 8, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license with HaiChang (the “HaiChang License Agreement”). In
connection with entering into the HaiChang License Agreement, the parties terminated the research and development collaboration agreement with HaiChang.
F-14

Table of Contents

REXAHN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
Rexgene Biotech Co., Ltd.
In 2003, the Company entered into a collaborative research agreement with Rexgene Biotech Co., Ltd. (“Rexgene”), which agreed to assist the Company with the
research, development and clinical trials necessary for registration of the Company’s product candidate RX-0201 in Asia. In accordance with the agreement, Rexgene
paid the Company a one-time fee of $1,500,000 in 2003. The agreement provided that it would expire upon the later of (i) 20 years after the date of the agreement or
(ii) the expiration of the patents relating to RX-0201. The amortization reduces research and development expenses for the periods presented. The payment from
Rexgene was used in the cooperative funding of the costs of development of RX-0201.
On February 5, 2018, the Company and NEXT BT Co. Ltd. (“Next BT”), the successor in interest to Rexgene, terminated the agreement. In exchange for Next BT
terminating its rights to RX-0201 in Asia, the Company agreed to pay Next BT a royalty in the low single digits of any net sales of RX-0201 the Company makes in
Asia and 50% of the Company’s licensing revenue related to the licensing of RX-0201 in Asia, up to an aggregate of $5,000,000. Upon termination of the agreement,
the unamortized deferred research and development arrangement liability of $368,750 under the agreement was eliminated and recognized as other income. The
Company historically used 20 years as its basis for recognition and accordingly research and development expenses were reduced by $6,250 for the period beginning
January 1, 2018 up to the agreement’s termination.
Merck Sharp & Dohme B.V.
On August 16, 2018, the Company entered into a clinical trial collaboration and supply agreement (the “Collaboration Agreement”) with Merck Sharp & Dohme B.V.
(“Merck”) to conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of the combination of RX-5902 with Merck’s anti-PD‑1 therapy, KEYTRUDA
(pembrolizumab), in patients with metastatic triple negative breast cancer (TNBC). Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, the Company will sponsor the
clinical trial and Merck will supply the Company with KEYTRUDA for use in the trial at no cost to the Company. The Collaboration Agreement provides that the
Company and Merck will jointly own clinical data generated from the clinical trial. The Company is currently evaluating the development strategy for RX-5902 and
may or may not proceed with this trial.
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8.

Leases
The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019. Upon adoption, leases classified as operating leases under previous U.S. GAAP are recognized as right of
use lease assets and lease liabilities. The classification criteria for distinguishing between finance leases and operating leases pursuant to ASU 2016-02 are
substantially similar to the classification criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases in the previous leases guidance. Upon adoption, the
Company did not have any finance leases, and the Company’s operating leases were as follows:
Office Space Lease
The Company leases 5,466 square feet of office space in Rockville, Maryland, with a lease term ending June 30, 2024. Prior to the amendment of this lease on March
18, 2019, the lease covered 7,193 square feet and had a lease term ending June 30, 2019. Under the lease agreement, the Company pays its allocable portion of real
estate taxes and common area operating charges. The lease has escalating rent payments for which the Company records lease expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term, and an option to terminate the leased premises, without penalty, on June 30, 2021. The Company is reasonably certain that it will not remain in these
leased premises after the optional termination date, and therefore, is using the optional termination date in assessing the lease term.
Laboratory Lease
The Company previously leased 2,552 square feet of laboratory space with a lease term due to end on June 30, 2020. The Company terminated its laboratory lease
agreement on February 4, 2019 and surrendered the premises on February 28, 2019.
The following table summarizes the right of use lease assets and lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019:
Right-of-Use Assets
Operating Lease Liabilities
Current
Long Term
Total Operating Lease Liabilities

$

203,348

$

139,765
63,605
203,370

$

Lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $229,701, which includes $200,948 in operating lease costs and $28,753 in variable lease costs. The rightof-use asset and lease liability were calculated using an estimated incremental borrowing rate of 11%. At December 31, 2019, the weighted average lease term was 1.5
years.
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The table below summarizes the Company’s scheduled future minimum lease payments recorded on the balance sheet, as of December 31, 2019:
Year Ending December 31:
2020
2021
Minimum lease payments
Less: Imputed interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Less: current maturities of lease obligations
Long-term lease obligations
9.

$

$

155,280
65,364
220,644
(17,274)
203,370
(139,765 )
63,605

Net Loss per Common Share
Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted loss
per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding, plus the number of common share
equivalents that would be dilutive. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and warrants to acquire, in the
aggregate, 2,126,063 and 1,322,602 shares of the Company’s common stock, respectively, that are potentially dilutive. However, diluted loss per share for all periods
presented is the same as basic loss per share for those periods because the inclusion of common share equivalents would be anti-dilutive.
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10. Common Stock
The following transactions occurred during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
Reverse Stock Split
On April 12, 2019 the Company effected a 1-for-12 reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. Each 12 shares of the Company’s
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, issued and outstanding at the effective time of the reverse stock split were reclassified and combined into one share of
common stock par value $0.0001 per share. The number of shares of common stock and preferred stock the Company is authorized to issue remained unchanged at
75,000,000 and 10,000,000, respectively. All share and per share amounts have been restated for all periods to give retroactive effect to the reverse stock split.
Accordingly, an amount equal to the par value of the decreased shares resulting from the reverse stock split was reclassified from “Common stock” to “Additional
paid-in capital.”
Authorized Shares
On August 30, 2018, the Company’s stockholders approved an increase in the Company’s authorized shares of stock from 50,000,000 to 75,000,000.
Public Offerings
October 2018
On October 19, 2018, the Company closed a registered direct offering of 480,770 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 480,771 shares of common
stock, resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of approximately $7,500,000. The common stock and warrants were sold in units, consisting of a share of common
stock and a warrant to purchase a share of common stock, at a price of $15.60 per unit, with an exercise price for the warrants of $20.04 per share. The warrants
became exercisable April 19, 2019 and will remain exercisable through April 19, 2024. The Company also issued warrants to purchase up to 28,848 shares of the
Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $19.50 per share, to designees of the placement agent in the offering. The warrants issued to the investors and to the
placement agent are classified as equity instruments. The closing costs of this offering of $896,117 included $286,906 for the placement agent warrants and $627,211
in placement agent and other fees that are recorded as a reduction of the gross proceeds of the offering.
January 2019
On January 25, 2019, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 895,834 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 895,886 shares of
common stock, resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of approximately $8,600,000. The common stock and warrants were sold in units, consisting of a share of
common stock and a warrant to purchase a share of common stock, at a price of $9.60 per unit, with an exercise price for the warrants of $9.60 per share. The warrants
were immediately exercisable and will remain exercisable until January 25, 2024. The warrants issued are classified as equity instruments. The closing costs of this
offering were $1,046,172 in underwriter’s and other professional fees that are recorded as a reduction in the gross proceeds of the offering.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 204,574 options outstanding.
The Company grants equity awards to key employees, directors and consultants of the Company under the Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2013 Stock Option Plan (the
“2013 Plan”). The Company has reserved 283,333 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to the 2013 Plan. As of December 31, 2019, there were 187,420
options outstanding under the 2013 Plan, and 93,882 shares were available for issuance. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, there were 17,154 options outstanding
under a previously established stock option plan under which no new stock options may be granted.
Accounting for Awards
Stock-based compensation expense is the estimated fair value of options and RSUs granted amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite vesting service period
for the entire portion of the award. Total stock-based compensation recognized by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2019
2018
Statement of operations line item:
General and administrative
Research and development

$

393,483
63,267

$

883,855
344,480

Total

$

456,750

$

1,228,335

No income tax benefit has been recognized in the statement of operations for stock-based compensation arrangements as the Company has provided for a 100%
valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets.
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Summary of Stock Option Transactions
There were 52,465 stock options granted at exercise prices ranging from $5.23 to $7.45 with an aggregate fair value of $220,540 during the year ended December 31,
2019. There were 123,587 stock options granted at exercise prices ranging from $13.08 to $27.48, with an aggregate fair value of $1,540,866, during the year ended
December 31, 2018.
For the majority of the grants to employees, the vesting period is 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date and, thereafter, one thirty-sixth of the remaining option
vests in equal installments on the first business day of each month until fully vested. Options generally expire ten years from the date of grant. For grants to nonemployee directors and consultants of the Company, the vesting period is between one and three years, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions in the individual
stock agreements, or 100% upon the occurrence of certain events specified in the individual stock agreements.
The fair value of options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company took into consideration guidance under ASC
718 and SAB 107 when reviewing and updating assumptions.
Significant assumptions are determined as follows:
Expected Term. The expected term is estimated using the simplified method whereby the expected term equals the arithmetic average of the vesting term and the
original contractual term of the option.
Volatility. Volatility is based on the historical trading volatility of the Company’s stock on the date of grant for a period consistent with the expected term.
Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury instruments on the date of grant with a maturity date consistent
with the expected term of the Company’s stock option grants.
Expected Dividend. To date, the Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends and do not have any plans to do so in the future. Therefore, the
Company used an expected dividend yield of zero.
Forfeitures-The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur.
The assumptions made in calculating the fair values of options are as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
Black-Scholes assumptions
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)

0%
74-75%
1.9-2.6%
5.5-6 years
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The following table summarizes share-based transactions:

Outstanding, January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Cancelled
Outstanding, December 31, 2019
Exercisable, December 31, 2019

Number of
Options
255,922
52,465
(2,080 )
(101,733 )
204,574
123,263

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Weighted Average
Exercise
Remaining
Price
Contractual Term
41.88
7.8 years $
6.41
97.78
34.99
35.60
51.15

7.3 years $
6.2 years $

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
-

-

There were no stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The weighted average fair value of options granted was $4.20 and $12.48
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
A summary of the Company’s unvested options as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented below:

Number of
Options
131,531
52,465
(51,386)
(51,299)

Unvested at January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Cancelled
Unvested at December 31, 2019

81,311

2019
Weighted Average Fair
Value at Grant Date
$
13.19
$
4.20
$
14.12
$
11.47
$

7.90

As of December 31, 2019, there was $577,976 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average vesting period of 2.0 years.
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Summary of Restricted Stock Unit Transactions
The fair value of an RSU award is the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. A summary of RSU activity for the year ended December
31, 2019 is as follows:
Weighted
Average Grant
Number of RSUs
Date Fair Value
1,394 $
22.08
- $
(464) $
22.08
(930) $
22.08

Outstanding, January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested and Released
Cancelled
Outstanding, December 31, 2019
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12. Warrants
The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding warrants to purchase common stock as of December 31, 2019 and 2018

Warrant Issuance
Liability-classified Warrants
January 2014 Investors
November 2015 Investors
November 2015 Placement Agent
March 2016 Investors
September 2016 Investors
June 2017 Investors
June 2017 Placement Agent
October 2017 Investors
October 2017 Placement Agent
Total liability classified warrants

Number of Warrants:
December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018

Exercise Price

Expiration
Date

104,168
279
50,651
67,084
126,264
15,153
136,058
16,327
515,984

39,683
104,168
279
50,651
67,084
126,264
15,153
136,058
16,327
555,667

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

153.60
63.60
63.60
50.40
36.00
48.00
49.50
34.20
36.72

Jan. 2019
May 2021
Nov. 2020
Sept. 2021
Mar. 2022
Dec. 2022
June 2022
Apr. 2023
Oct. 2022

Equity-classified Warrants
October 2018 Investors
October 2018 Placement Agent
January 2019 Investors
Total equity-classified warrants

480,771
28,848
895,886
1,405,505

480,771
28,848
509,619

$
$
$

20.04
19.50
9.60

Apr. 2024
Oct. 2023
Jan. 2024

Total outstanding warrants

1,921,489

1,065,286

The following table summarizes the Company’s warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2019:
Number of Warrants

Balance, January 1, 2019
Issued during the period
Exercised during the period
Expired during the period
Balance, December 31, 2019

Liabilityclassified
555,667
(39,683)
515,984

Equityclassified
509,619
895,886
1,405,505

At December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding warrants was 3.7 years.
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price
1,065,286 $
37.52
895,886 $
9.60
- $
(39,683) $
153.60
1,921,489

$

22.10
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Accounting for Liability-classified Warrants
The warrants issued to investors in the November 2015, March 2016 and September 2016 offerings contain a provision for net cash settlement in the event of a
fundamental transaction (contractually defined to include a merger, sale of substantially all assets, tender offer or share exchange). The warrant holder would have the
option to receive cash equal to the fair value of the remaining unexercised portion of the warrant. In addition, the warrants from these three and the June 2017 and
October 2017 offerings contain a cashless exercise provision that is exercisable only in the event that a registration statement is not effective. That provision may not
be operative if an effective registration statement is not available because an exemption under the U.S. securities laws may not be available to issue unregistered
shares. As a result, net cash settlement may be required, and these warrants require liability classification.
ASC 820 provides requirements for disclosure of liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis in periods subsequent to the initial recognition. Fair
values for warrants were determined using the Binomial Lattice (“Lattice”) valuation technique. The Lattice model provides for dynamic assumptions regarding
volatility and risk-free interest rates within the total period to maturity. Accordingly, within the contractual term, the Company provided multiple date intervals over
which multiple volatilities and risk-free interest rates were used. These intervals allow the Lattice model to project outcomes along specific paths that consider
volatilities and risk-free rates that would be more likely in an early exercise scenario.
Significant assumptions are determined as follows:
Trading market values—Published trading market values;
Exercise price—Stated exercise price;
Term—Remaining contractual term of the warrant;
Volatility—Historical trading volatility for periods consistent with the remaining terms; and
Risk-free rate—Yields on zero coupon government securities with remaining terms consistent with the remaining terms of the warrants.
Due to the fundamental transaction provision, which could provide for early redemption of the warrants, the model also considered the probability the Company would
enter into a fundamental transaction during the remaining term of the warrant. Historically, the Company has considered the probability of a fundamental transaction
occurring to be remote, however, in September 2019, the Company commenced a process to explore and evaluate strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value,
which could result in a fundamental transaction as defined by the warrant agreements. Therefore, the Company adjusted the likelihood and timing of its fundamental
transaction assumptions when calculating the fair values of the liability-classified warrants as of December 31, 2019.
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the warrants include management’s estimate of the probability that a fundamental
transaction may occur in the future. Significant increases (decreases) in the probability of occurrence would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value
measurement.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the warrants as of the respective balance sheet dates:
Fair Value as of:
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
$
55 $
234,918
435
439
160,099
3,196
333,834
11,736
623,324
845
65,149
23,772
801,551
1,674
88,276
$
41,717 $
2,307,586

Warrant Issuance:
November 2015 Investors
November 2015 Placement Agent
March 2016 Investor
September 2016 Investors
June 2017 Investors
June 2017 Placement Agent
October 2017 Investors
October 2017 Placement Agent
Total:
The assumptions used in calculating the fair values of the warrants are as follows:

December 31, 2019
December 31, 2018
$
1.91
$
11.16
102 %
105 %
1.57-1.72%
2.35-2.53%
85-94%
99-104%
1.57-1.59%
2.51-2.55%
50%
5%
April 2020
End of warrant term

Trading market prices
Estimated future volatility
Dividend
Estimated future risk-free rate
Equivalent volatility
Equivalent risk-free rate
Fundamental transaction likelihood
Fundamental transaction timing
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Changes in the fair value of the warrant liabilities, carried at fair value, as reported as “unrealized gain on fair value of warrants” in the statement of operations:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
$
- $
64,307
234,863
1,025,132
435
2,501
159,660
537,455
330,638
720,249
611,588
1,358,540
64,304
156,442
777,779
1,504,001
86,602
177,422
$
2,265,869 $
5,546,049

Expired Warrants
November 2015 Investors
November 2015 Placement Agent
March 2016 Investors
September 2016 Investors
June 2017 Investors
June 2017 Placement Agent
October 2017 Investors
October 2017 Placement Agent
Total:
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13. Income Taxes
No provision for federal and state income taxes was required for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 due to the Company’s operating losses and increased
deferred tax asset valuation allowance. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had unused net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $156,586,000
and $147,086,000 respectively, portions of which expire at various dates beginning in 2021. Some of this amount may be subject to annual limitations under certain
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code related to “changes in ownership.”
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the deferred tax assets related to the aforementioned carry-forwards have been fully offset by valuation allowances, because
significant utilization of such amounts is not presently expected in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and valuation allowances consist of:
December 31,
2019
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
Stock Compensation Expense
Book Tax Differences on Assets and Liabilities
Valuation Allowance

$

Net Deferred Tax Assets

$

December 31,
2018

43,844,000 $
1,191,000
464,000
(45,499,000)
-

$

41,184,000
1,608,000
195,000
(42,987,000)
-

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and Maryland state jurisdictions. Tax years for fiscal 2016 through 2019 are open and potentially subject to
examination by the federal and Maryland state taxing authorities.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
a)

The Company has contracted with various vendors for research and development services, with terms that require payments over the term of the
agreements, usually ranging from two to 36 months. The costs to be incurred are estimated and are subject to revision. As of December 31, 2019, the total
estimated cost to complete these agreements was approximately $1,750,000. All of these agreements may be terminated by either party upon appropriate
notice as stipulated in the respective agreements.

b)

On June 22, 2009, the Company entered into a License Agreement with Korea Research Institute of Chemical Technology (“KRICT”) to acquire the rights
to all intellectual property related to quinoxaline-piperazine derivatives that were synthesized under a Joint Research Agreement. The agreement with
KRICT calls for a one-time milestone payment of $1,000,000 within 30 days after the first achievement of marketing approval of the first commercial
product arising out of or in connection with the use of KRICT’s intellectual property. As of December 31, 2019, the milestone has not occurred.

c)

The Company has established a 401(k) plan for its employees. The Company has elected to match 100% of the first 3% of an employee’s compensation
plus 50% of an additional 2% of the employee’s deferral. Expense related to this matching contribution aggregated to $71,568 and $120,558, for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively.

d)

On February 5, 2018, the Company and Next BT terminated the research collaboration agreement between the Company and Rexgene. In exchange for
Next BT terminating its rights to RX-0201 in Asia, the Company agreed to pay Next BT a royalty in the low single digits of any net sales of RX-0201 the
Company makes in Asia and 50% of the Company’s licensing revenue related to licensing of RX-0201 in Asia, up to an aggregate of $5,000,000. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company has not made any royalty payments to Next BT.
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15. Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, not adjusted for transaction costs. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value into three broad levels giving the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3).
The three levels are described below:
Level 1 Inputs

— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible by the Company;

Level 2 Inputs

— Quoted prices in markets that are not active or financial instruments for which all significant inputs are observable, either
directly or indirectly;

Level 3 Inputs

— Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability including significant assumptions of the Company and other market participants.

The following tables present assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and are categorized using the fair value hierarchy.
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2019
Total
Level 1
Assets:
Commercial Paper
Corporate Bonds
Total Assets:

$

Liabilities:
Warrant Liabilities

$

$

1,997,400
999,820
2,997,220

$

-

$

41,717

$

-

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2018
Total

Level 2

Level 3

$

$

$

1,997,400
999,820
2,997,220

$

-

$

-

$

41,717

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Corporate Bonds

$

5,981,520

$

-

$

5,981,520

$

-

Liabilities:
Warrant Liabilities

$

2,307,586

$

-

$

-

$

2,307,586
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The fair value of the Company’s Level 2 marketable securities is determined by using quoted prices from independent pricing services that use market data for
comparable securities in active or inactive markets. A variety of data inputs, including benchmark yields, interest rates, known historical trades and broker dealer
quotes are used with pricing models to determine the quoted prices.
The fair value methodology for the warrant liabilities is disclosed in Note 12.
The carrying amounts reported in the financial statements for cash and cash equivalents (Level 1), and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value
because of the short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
There have been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018.
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of changes in the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 in the fair value of the liabilities classified as Level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy:
Warrant Liabilities
2,307,586
(2,265,869 )
$
41,717

Balance at January 1, 2019
Unrealized gains, net
Balance at December 31, 2019

$

Balance at January 1, 2018
Unrealized gains, net
Balance at December 31, 2018

$

Warrant Liabilities
7,853,635
(5,546,049 )
$
2,307,586
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16. Subsequent Event
Exclusive License Agreement with HaiChang
On February 8, 2020, the Company entered into the HaiChang License Agreement pursuant to which the Company granted HaiChang an exclusive (even as to the
Company), royalty-bearing, sublicensable worldwide license to research, develop and commercialize pharmaceutical products comprising RX-0201 (subject to and limited
by the exclusive rights of Next BT with respect to RX-0201 in Asia), the nano-liposomal formulation of RX-0201 known as RX-0301, and RX-0047, a proprietary
compound currently in preclinical development. HaiChang has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize
one product comprising or RX-0301 and one product comprising RX-0047.
HaiChang will pay to the Company a one-time upfront payment in the amount of $250,000 for certain materials to be transferred by the Company to HaiChang. HaiChang
will pay the Company development milestone payments in an aggregate of up to $63,000,000 with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 and up to $33,000,000 with respect to
RX-0047, and royalties based on percentages of net sales in the low tens with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 and the mid-single digits with respect to RX-0047.
However, if HaiChang exclusively sublicenses its rights to a third party with respect to RX-0201 and RX-0301 or RX-0047 in a particular jurisdiction, instead of the
foregoing milestones and royalties to the extent relating to such compound(s) and jurisdiction, HaiChang will pay the Company a percentage of any sublicensing revenue
received by HaiChang, provided that in any event HaiChang will pay a milestone payment on initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial that is subject to reduction by the amount
of any sublicensing revenue paid with respect to the applicable compound(s) as of the time of initiation of the trial.
In connection with entering into the HaiChang License Agreement, the parties terminated the previous research collaboration and license agreement with HaiChang.
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Exhibit 4.9
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
As of the end of the period covered by the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part, the only class of securities of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (“we,” “us” and “our”) registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), was our common stock, $.0001 par
value per share.
COMMON STOCK
The following description of our common stock summarizes provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, our amended and
restated bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law. For a complete description, refer to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws, which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part, and to the applicable provisions of the
Delaware General Corporation Law.
Authorized Common Stock
We are authorized to issue 75,000,000 shares of common stock, $.0001 par value per share.
Rights of Common Stock
Voting Rights; Dividends; Liquidation. Holders of our common stock are entitled:
•

to cast one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders;

•

to receive dividends, as may be lawfully declared from time to time by our board of directors, subject to any preferential rights of holders of any
outstanding shares of preferred stock; and

•

in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, whether voluntary or involuntary, after payment of our debts and other liabilities and making
provision for the holders of outstanding shares of preferred stock, if any, to share ratably in the remainder of our assets.

Other Rights and Preferences. The holders of our common stock do not have any preemptive, cumulative voting, subscription, conversion, redemption, or sinking
fund rights. The common stock is not subject to future calls or assessments by us.
Preferred Stock
Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and
to fix the designations, powers, preferences, rights of the shares of each such series and to fix the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions of each series, including, but
not limited to, dividend rights, terms of redemption, conversion rights, voting rights, and sinking fund terms, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common
stock, and the number of shares constituting such series.
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Fully Paid and Nonassessable
All of our outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.
Anti-Takeover Effect of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could make it more difficult to complete an
acquisition of us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise or the removal and replacement of our incumbent officers and directors.
Removal of Directors; Board Vacancies; Board Size. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for the removal of any of our directors only for
cause and requires a stockholder vote of at least a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation provides that any vacancy occurring on our board of directors may be filled by a majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, unless the
board of directors determines that such vacancy shall be filled by the stockholders. Finally, the authorized number of directors may be changed only by a resolution of the
board of directors. This system of removing directors, filling vacancies and fixing the size of the board makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a majority of the
directors.
Special Stockholder Meetings. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that a special meeting of
stockholders may be called only by a resolution adopted by a majority of our board of directors or by the chairman of the board.
Stockholder Advance Notice Procedure. Our amended and restated bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholders to make nominations of
candidates for election as directors or to bring other business before an annual meeting of our stockholders. The amended and restated bylaws provide that any stockholder
wishing to nominate persons for election as directors at, or bring other business before, an annual meeting must deliver to our secretary a written notice of the
stockholder’s intention to do so. To be timely, the stockholder’s notice must be delivered to or mailed and received by us not more than 120 days, and not less than 90
days before the anniversary date of the preceding annual meeting, except that if the annual meeting is set for a date that is not within 30 days before or 60 days after such
anniversary date, we must receive the notice not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the annual meeting and not later than the close of business on
the later of (i) the 90th day prior to the annual meeting or (ii) the tenth day following the day on which we first made public announcement of the date of meeting. The
notice must include the following information:
•

as to director nominations, all information relating to each director nominee that is required by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission to
be disclosed in solicitations of proxies, or is otherwise required by Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act;

•

as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the business to be proposed, the reasons for
conducting such business at the meeting and, if any, the stockholder’s material interest in the proposed business; and

•

the name and address of the stockholder who intends to make the nomination and the class and number of our shares beneficially owned of record;

Undesignated Preferred Stock. The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or
other rights or preferences that could have the effect of delaying, deferring, preventing or otherwise impeding any attempt to change control of us.
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Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits persons deemed “interested
stockholders” from engaging in a “business combination” with a publicly traded Delaware corporation for three years following the date these persons become interested
stockholders unless the business combination is, or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another
prescribed exception applies. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the
determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock
sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. The existence of this provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to
transactions not approved in advance by the board of directors, such as discouraging takeover attempts that might result in a premium over the market price of our
common stock.
Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that certain “business combinations” with
“interested stockholders” require approval by the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of our then outstanding shares of voting stock not beneficially owned
by any interested stockholder or an affiliate or associate thereof. The foregoing restriction does not apply, however, if the transaction is either approved by a majority of
our “continuing directors” or certain minimum price and procedural and other requirements are met. Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger,
consolidation, liquidation, recapitalization or other similar transaction or a sale, lease, transfer or other disposition of assets or securities having an aggregate fair market
value of $15 million or more. An “interested stockholder” generally means a beneficial owner of 20% or more of our voting stock, certain assignees of such beneficial
owners and certain of our affiliates that within the preceding two years were the beneficial owner of 20% or more of our voting stock. A “continuing director” is defined as
any member of our board who is not an affiliate or associate or representative of the interested stockholder and was a member of the board prior to the time the interested
stockholder became such, and any successor of a continuing director who is unaffiliated with the interested stockholder and is recommended or elected by at least twothirds of the continuing directors then on the board.
Listing
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “REXN”.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Olde Monmouth Stock Transfer Co., Inc.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-218285) and Form S-8 (File No. 333-189240, 333-129294
and 333-217627) of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc., of our report dated February 21, 2020, relating to the financial statements of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. which appear
in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
/s/ BAKER TILLY VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP
Lancaster, Pennsylvania
February 21, 2020

Exhibit 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Douglas J. Swirsky, as his true and
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power to him (including the full power of substitution and resubstitution), to sign for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead, in the capacity or capacities set forth below, (1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 to be filed by Rexahn Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (the “Company”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
(2) any amendments to the foregoing Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Commission,
granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Douglas J. Swirsky
Douglas J. Swirsky

Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director

February 20, 2020

/s/ Peter Brandt
Peter Brandt

Chairman

February 19, 2020

/s/ Charles Beever
Charles Beever

Director

February 19, 2020

/s/ Kwang Soo Cheong
Kwang Soo Cheong

Director

February 19, 2020

/s/ Ben Gil Price
Ben Gil Price

Director

February 19, 2020

/s/ Richard J. Rodgers
Richard J. Rodgers

Director

February 19, 2020

/s/ Lara Sullivan
Lara Sullivan

Director

February 19, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14(D)
AND 15D-14(D)
I, Douglas J. Swirsky, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: February 21, 2020
/s/ Douglas J. Swirsky
Douglas J. Swirsky
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION*
In connection with the Annual Report of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Douglas J. Swirsky, Chief Financial Officer and President of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: February 21, 2020

By:

/s/ Douglas J. Swirsky
Douglas J. Swirsky,
Chief Executive Officer and President

* This Certification is being furnished as required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code, and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section.
This Certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except as otherwise stated
in such filing.
A signed original of this written statement required by 18 U.S.C. § 1350 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

